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List of abbreviations:

APS – Automated payout system

BDIF or the Fund – Bulgarian Deposit Insurance Fund

BNB – Bulgarian National Bank

BRF – Bank Resolution Fund

DGS – Deposit Guarantee Scheme

EBA – European Banking Authority

EBRD – European Bank for Reconstruction and Development

EC – European Commission

ECB – European Central Bank

EDIS – European Deposit Insurance Scheme

EFDI – European Forum of Deposit Insurers

EU – European Union

GDP – Gross Domestic Product

HICP – Harmonised Index of Consumer Prices

IADI – International Association of Deposit Insurers

IAS – International Accounting Standards

IBRD – International Bank for Reconstruction and Development (World Bank)

IFRS – International Financial Reporting Standards

IMF – International Monetary Fund

KTB, KTB (in bankruptcy) – Corporate Commercial Bank AD (in bankruptcy)

LBB – Law on Bank Bankruptcy

LBDG – Law on Bank Deposit Guarantee

LCI – Law on Credit Institutions

LRRCIIF – Law on the Recovery and Resolution of Credit Institutions and Investment Firms

MB – Management Board

MF – Ministry of Finance

SCV – single customer view

SRF – Single Resolution Fund
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BDIF Mission

To protect depositors’ funds in banks, as well as creditors’ interests in bank bankruptcy proceedings and 

to participate in the process of bank resolution in the cases provided for by the law, thus contributing 

to the stability of and confidence in the financial system

Vision

Competent and active participant in the financial stability system

Objectives

Maintaining depositors’ confidence

Maintaining financial stability

Mandate

The Bulgarian Deposit Insurance Fund is a legal entity established in 1999.

In accordance with the Law on Bank Deposit Guarantee BDIF repays the guaranteed amount of 

deposits, determines and collects annual and extraordinary premium contributions from banks, and 

invests its assets in deposits with the BNB and in highly liquid debt securities issued or guaranteed by 

the Bulgarian State or issued by first-class foreign issuers.

In compliance with the Law on Bank Bankruptcy BDIF protects the interests of creditors and oversees 

the lawful and appropriate exercise of trustee’s powers in bank bankruptcy proceedings.

Under the Law on the Recovery and Resolution of Credit Institutions and Investment Firms BDIF 

participates in the financing of the resolution of credit institutions, taking on losses for insured depositors 

in the resolution process, pursuant to the requirements of the law.
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Chairman’s Address

Dear Ladies and Gentlemen,

The past 2020 was unprecedented with the changes it brought to the rhythm of personal and business 
lives worldwide.

BDIF had to adequately respond to the challenges that arose, and in addition to the change in the work 
regime so as to ensure the fulfilment of BDIF mandate, requisite measures were taken to preserve the 
lives and health of the employees.

In the middle of the year, following the legislative amendments ensuing from the accession of the Republic 
of Bulgaria to the Exchange Rate Mechanism II, the funds of the Bank Resolution Fund managed by the 
BDIF since the BRF establishment in August 2015 were transferred to the Bulgarian National Bank in its 
capacity as resolution authority.

During the year the implementation of the five-year Liquidation Plan for the Assets in the Bankruptcy 
Estate of KTB (in bankruptcy) continued. Effort-wise, funds were allocated to the second and third 
partial distribution accounts in total of BGN 435.6 million, of which BDIF as the largest creditor received  
BGN 320.6 million from the second partial account.

Notwithstanding the epidemic situation and in line with the Programming Cycle of Stress Tests of the 
Deposit Guarantee System for the Period 2017-2021, BDIF managed to perform the vast majority of the 
tests set for the year.

Provisions of Ordinance No. 29 on Establishing the Procedure for Financing the Administrative Expenses 
of the Bulgarian Deposit Insurance Fund were further adjusted.

BDIF continued to strictly fulfil its commitments under the Loan Agreements with the International Bank for 
Reconstruction and Development and the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development.

BDIF continued its cooperation with its institutional partners – the Ministry of Finance, the Bulgarian 
National Bank, the Association of Banks in Bulgaria and the banking industry.

Despite the difficulties and constraints imposed by the emergency situation, the BDIF continued to perform 
its mandate and contribute to the stability of and confidence in Bulgaria’s financial system.

Matey Matev
Chairman of the Management Board

Bulgarian Deposit Insurance Fund



ANNUAL ACTIVITY REPORT 
OF THE MANAGEMENT
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Annual Activity Report of the Bulgarian Deposit Insurance Fund  
Management for 2020

The state of emergency declared in mid-March 2020 in Bulgaria due to the spread of the COVID-19 and 
the subsequent declaration and prolongation of the epidemic emergency situation, effective until the end 
of April 2021 led to changes both in the activities and the working rhythm of BDIF management and expert 
staff.

In this regard, measures were introduced to ensure the continuity of BDIF’s activity by introducing home 
office arrangements for most of the work and limiting physical presence on its premises. The necessary 
information technology infrastructure was put in place to ensure the workflow for which remote performance 
was inapplicable. Changes were partly made to some processes that could switch to e-mode. Internal 
and external communication was conducted mainly electronically and by telephone to minimise physical 
meetings.

The Deposit Guarantee System in 2020

Amendments to the Statutory Framework

Transfer of the Funds of the Bank Resolution Fund

On 27 July 2020 pursuant to § 56, para 1 of the Transitional and Final Provisions of the Law on Amendment 
of the Law on the Recovery and Resolution of Credit Institutions and Investment Firms (published in 
Darjaven Vestnik, issue 37 of 2019) and within the statutory term – 14 days after the publication of 
Decision (EU) 2020/2015 of the European Central Bank of 24 June 2020 on the establishment of close 
cooperation between the European Central Bank and the Bulgarian National Bank (ECB/2020/30) in the 
Official Journal of the European Union, from which date the Decision shall apply, all funds of the Bank 
Resolution Fund in the amount of BGN 701,166 thousand were transferred to an account of the Bulgarian 
National Bank in its capacity as resolution authority.

Ordinance No. 29 on Establishing the Procedure for Financing the Administrative Expenses of the 

Bulgarian Deposit Insurance Fund

Upon proposal of BDIF Management Board, at the end of 2020 the BNB adopted amendments to Ordinance 
No. 29 on Establishing the Procedure for Financing the Administrative Expenses of the Bulgarian Deposit 
Insurance Fund. Some of the changes were effected with amendments to legal acts – the Law on Bank 
Deposit Guarantee of 2019, as well as Decision (EU) 2020/1015 of the European Central Bank of 24 June 
2020 on the establishment of close cooperation between the European Central Bank and the Bulgarian 
National Bank (ECB/2020/30) and the entry into force of Art. 134, para 3 of the Law on the Recovery 
and Resolution of Credit Institutions and Investment Firms. Another part of the amendments was related 
to the synchronisation of Ordinance No. 29 with texts in Ordinance No. 30 of the BNB on Calculation 
of the Amount and Collection of Premium Contributions Due by Banks Under the Law on Bank Deposit 
Guarantee. As a result of the practical implementation of the Ordinance, amendments were made related 
to insignificant revenues realised by BDIF, and some changes were introduced in the format of the budget. 
Further, texts were amended to address accounting issues and issues related to the receipt of information 
from banks. Additionally, in view of the entry into force of amendments to the Law on the Recovery and 
Resolution of Credit Institutions and Investment Firms in the year past, some texts related to BDIF functions 
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under the LRRCIIF, including the transfer of funds from the Bank Resolution Fund to the BNB as resolution 
authority, were revised.

Protection of Personal Data at BDIF

BDIF ensures protection of personal data processed in connection with the activities of the Fund for the 
fulfilment of its mandate in accordance with the requirements of the LBDG, LBB and LRRCIIF, and any 
other information containing personal data processed by the BDIF.

In 2020 BDIF updated individual provisions of its internal personal data protection regulations in order to 
further improve them, as well as to reflect the current provisions of the applicable legislation in the field of 
personal data protection. The BDIF also performed a regular review and assessment of the appropriacy 
of the implemented measures for protection of the personal data processed by it, which showed that the 
introduced measures were adequate.

Programming Cycle of Stress Tests of the Deposit Guarantee System 

Conducting stress tests of the deposit guarantee system was still a major line in BDIF activities following 
both the European and global trends.

Conducted stress tests – SCV tests, operational capacity, funding capacity and operational cross-

border cooperation tests

The Programming Cycle of Stress Tests of the Deposit Guarantee System for the Period 2017-2021 
encompasses all major BDIF intervention scenarios related to the payout and protection of covered 
deposits. In 2020 the areas for assessing BDIF preparedness to fulfil its mandate were: quality assessment 
of standardised SCV files, operational capacity, funding capacity and operational cross-border cooperation.

Ensuing from the state of emergency introduced in mid-March 2020 BDIF Management Board decided 
to temporarily suspend the execution of stress tests with a view to alleviating member banks’ burden, 
and because of the limited physical presence of BDIF employees on the premises. Mid-year tests were 
resumed.

Under the Programming Cycle it was planned by the end of the year to conduct a second round of tests 
with the BDIF member banks on the quality of the standardised SCV files, which as of end-2019 had 
been tested once only, but in the epidemic situation due to COVID-19 tests with three of the banks were 
cancelled. They were rescheduled for the first half of 2021.

A test of operational cross-border cooperation and a test of funding capacity were repeated. In 2020 
in order to expand the scope of operational tests, two separate tests of BDIF operational capacity were 
conducted for the first time.

All tests conducted with the BDIF members banks were evaluated in accordance with the Methodology 
for Assessment of Stress Tests, adopted by the BDIF Management Board. The repeated tests reported 
an improvement in the quality and time of provision of the required standardised SCV files. The tested 
banks were advised in detail on the findings from the tests and provided with guidelines for avoiding 
discrepancies.

BDIF has been actively involved in the work of the EBA Task Force on Deposit Guarantee Schemes and 
its workstreams established for the review of Directive 2014/49/EU, including revision of the EBA-issued 
Guidelines on stress tests of deposit guarantee schemes under Directive 2014/49/EU.
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Upgrades to BDIF software for running DGS tests and for payout of covered deposits

In 2020 upgrades were made to the software for payout of covered deposits – Automated Payout System, 
where the main line of work was the launch of the project to upgrade the APS – a transition from TXT 
to XML format when processing and generating files for payout of covered deposits, in accordance with 
the requirements of the EFDI H2C Rulebook for Operations between Deposit Guarantee Schemes under 
Article 14(5) of Directive 2014/49/EU. The main goal was to introduce a new approach for structuring 
the information, in compliance with the requirements of the EFDI Rulebook, as well as to increase the 
efficiency and security of BDIF operations in the payout of covered deposits, testing the deposit guarantee 
system, as well as and in cross-border cases.

The APS software was further developed on the basis of identified shortcomings in the analysis of the 
tests findings.

Bankruptcy Proceedings Against KTB (in bankruptcy)

In 2020 BDIF continued to perform its functions, as vested by the LBB, in the bankruptcy proceedings 
against KTB (in bankruptcy) overseeing the lawful and appropriate exercise of the trustee’s powers, as well 
as protecting the interests of the bank’s creditors.

In compliance with its administrative and oversight powers under the LBB, BDIF conducted the following 
controlling activities during the year:

– gave permissions for execution of the adopted by BDIF Management Board Liquidation Plan for the 
Assets in the Bankruptcy Estate;

– issued orders for awarding and approving contracts for sale of rights and property in the bankruptcy 
estate;

– gave permissions to commission the services of external valuation experts, and approved their 
remuneration;

– gave permissions for the sale of assets in accordance with Art. 85, para 6, item 2 of the LBB;

– approved trustee’s monthly budgets for the expenses of the bankruptcy proceedings and approved the 
reports on the budget;

– gave preliminary permissions for extraordinary expenses in the bankruptcy proceedings based on a 
reasoned request;

– provided preliminary permissions for trustee’s actions or transactions where the property interest 
exceeded BGN 10,000;

– gave preliminary permission for disposal with the bank’s cash funds;

– issued methodological instructions to the trustee relating to the exercise of their powers;

– defined trustee’s remuneration in accordance with BNB Ordinance No. 33;

– conducted inspections on trustee’s activity; and

– approved the partial accounts for distribution and considered the objections received by BDIF against 
the partial accounts for distribution of the amounts between the creditors of the bank with accepted 
claims prepared by the trustee of KTB (in bankruptcy).
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Preservation and Replenishment of the Bankruptcy Estate of KTB (in bankruptcy)

With the aim of replenishing the bankruptcy estate by the end of 2020 the trustee of KTB (in bankruptcy) 
had undertaken legal measures for initiating and conducting more than 1,354 litigations – order-for-
payment, declaratory, repeal and enforcement proceedings, proceedings for recovery of property originating 
from the bank against third parties, as well as bankruptcy proceedings against legal entities (borrowers, 
joint debtors and others, including against third parties). 340 order-for-payment, declaratory, repeal and 
enforcement proceedings were initiated against physical persons, debtors to the bank. In total, 166 legal 
actions were taken against former KTB administrative officers, of which 114 claims – filed against former 
KTB administrative officers for awarding compensation for damages incurred by the bank, as well as 52 
preliminary injunction proceedings. Pending are two proceedings against the auditor KPMG Bulgaria who 
certified the bank’s financial statements for the past few years before the bank’s insolvency. As of 31 
December 2020 there were eight ongoing lawsuits on appeals by the bank’s creditors against the accepted 
and rejected claims by the trustee under Articles 66 and 68 of LBB. 181 court proceedings were closed 
as of year-end.

Set-offs equalling BGN 1,928,455 thousand were challenged in 217 litigations and by 31 December 2020 
136 proceedings were pending, while 81 – closed, totalling BGN 429,419 thousand.

The above number of litigations is also inclusive of 152 lawsuits in progress on the legal grounds of Articles 
60a and 60b of the LBB and Art. 135 of the Law on Obligations and Contracts.

Procedure for Liquidation of Assets in the Bankruptcy Estate of KTB (in bankruptcy)

With regard to its administrative and oversight powers under the LBB, during the year BDIF undertook all 
necessary actions related to public disposition of aggregations of property items and rights as well as of 
individual items and property rights included in the approved by the BDIF Management Board in November 
2016 Liquidation Plan for the Assets in the Bankruptcy Estate of KTB (in bankruptcy).

Assets which were offered at least three times at auctions with secret bidding and were not sold, upon KTB 
(in bankruptcy) trustee’s proposal while observing the statutory requirements and subject to permission by 
the Chairman of the BDIF Management Board were included in the Liquidation Plan for sale through direct 
negotiation under Art. 85, para 6, item 2 of the LBB.

In 2020 individual items and property rights and aggregations thereof, realised from the bankruptcy estate 
of KTB (in bankruptcy) amounted to BGN 35,526 thousand, of which BGN 16,407 thousand accounted for 
proceeds from the sale of bonds and BGN 15,766 thousand – from the realisation of bank’s claims.

The claims collected by the trustee in 2020 amounted to BGN 261,350 thousand.

Accounts of the Cash Collected from Liquidated Property for Distribution Among the Creditors of 

KTB (in bankruptcy)

As of 31 December 2020 with a resolution in accordance with Art. 99, para 1 of the LBB the BDIF 
Management Board approved the prepared by the trustee of KTB (in bankruptcy) three partial accounts 
for distribution of collected cash in the bankruptcy estate among the creditors of KTB (in bankruptcy) with 
accepted claims under Art. 69, para 1 of the LBB.

The payout of the amounts due from the first partial account for distribution among the creditors of KTB 
(in bankruptcy) started in May 2019 and by 31 December 2020 an amount of BGN 535,398 thousand was 
paid.
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Second partial account for distribution

With a resolution of the BDIF Management Board the second partial account for distribution of a total value 
of BGN 430,000 thousand was approved, of which BGN 417,053 thousand were allocated for distribution, 
and BGN 12,947 thousand were set aside under Art. 96, para 1 of the LBB.

Pursuant to Art. 99, para 4 of the LBB the payout of the amounts due from the second partial account 
for distribution among the creditors of KTB (in bankruptcy) was launched on 8 September 2020. BDIF 
received BGN 320,648 thousand. By the end of 2020 the creditors KTB (in bankruptcy) were paid BGN 
384,883 thousand from the second partial distribution account.

Third partial account for distribution

In 2020 BDIF Management Board approved the third partial distribution account of BGN 5,569 thousand, 
which was distributed to a secured creditor with ranking under Art. 94, para 1, item 1 of the LBB, in 
compliance with the requirements of Art. 101 of the LBB. The amount was paid on 7 October 2020.

Fourth partial account for distribution

The fourth partial distribution account drafted by the KTB (in bankruptcy) trustee, equalling BGN 250,000 
thousand, was published in the Commercial Register and Register of Non-Profit Legal Entities on  
17 February 2021.

Reporting in the Bankruptcy Proceedings of KTB (in bankruptcy)

The trustee of KTB (in bankruptcy) reported on the bankruptcy proceedings they managed in the monthly 
reports on their activities, which were submitted to the Minister of Finance and the BDIF; the reports, save 
for the information protected by law, were posted on BDIF website.

The KTB (in bankruptcy) trustee prepared the monthly reports on their activity as well as references in 
accordance with the statutory requirements and in the format and contents stipulated by the BDIF.

The approved by BDIF Management Board monthly reports of the Chairman of the BDIF Management 
Board on the performance of his functions under the LBB were sent for information to the National 
Assembly.

In compliance with Art. 43 of the LBB BDIF acts related to the bankruptcy proceedings of KTB (in 
bankruptcy) were entered in a dedicated register, kept in paper and e-format, publicly available on BDIF 
website.

Communication with Creditors of KTB (in bankruptcy)

BDIF provided information to the creditors of KTB (in bankruptcy) mainly via its website, where the trustee’s 
monthly reports, the e-register of BDIF acts, and any relevant information on the bankruptcy proceedings 
of KTB (in bankruptcy) were posted.

Upon their request KTB (in bankruptcy) creditors were advised on the process of disbursement of sums 
from the partial accounts for distribution.
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Interinstitutional Cooperation

In 2020 BDIF continued coordinating its activities with its institutional partners – the Ministry of Finance, 
the Bulgarian National Bank and the Association of Banks in Bulgaria.

BDIF participated in the work of the established by an order of the Minister of Finance Financial Services 
No. 26 Working Group to the Council on European Affaires by providing opinions within its competence.

During the year BDIF took part in the activities of the lead by MoF interinstitutional Working Group on 
Financial Literacy which drew a National Strategy for Financial Literacy and an Action Plan for the period 
2021-2025 thereto, which were adopted by the Council of Ministers at the beginning of February 2021.

Loan Agreements with the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development and
the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development

During the year BDIF continued to service its obligations to the European Bank for Reconstruction and 
Development and the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development in accordance with the 
Loan Agreements with both institutions concluded in 2016 and providing government guaranteed loans to 
BDIF. As at end-2020 BDIF liabilities on the government guaranteed loans to both international financial 
institutions stood at BGN 586.95 million to IBRD and BGN 585.73 million to EBRD.

After receiving the funds from the second partial account of KTB (in bankruptcy) and the annual premium 
contributions, the BDIF Management Board considered the options for early repayment of liabilities to the 
IBRD and/or the EBRD. Accordingly, upon obtaining prior consent of the guarantor, the EBRD approved 
exemption of BDIF from the requirement to maintain the parallel instrument with the World Bank at least in 
the amount of the outstanding portion of the EBRD loan. This provided BDIF with more flexibility in deciding 
on early repayment.

Proposal of the European Commission for Establishing a European Deposit Insurance
Scheme

In 2020, albeit less actively due to the spread of COVID-19, discussions and negotiations continued at 
EU level on the establishment of a European Deposit Insurance Scheme as the third pillar of the Banking 
Union.

BDIF has been following track of the negotiations since November 2015 when the EC proposed the 
establishment of EDIS as part of a comprehensive package of measures to strengthen the Economic and 
Monetary Union and, in particular, the completion of the Banking Union. The EDIS is expected to provide 
stronger and homogeneous protection for deposits, thereby reducing the vulnerability of national DGSs 
to large domestic shocks. This is expected to increase the level of confidence of depositors in individual 
countries and weaken the financial link between banks and the sovereign. Between 2016 and 2018 various 
alternative versions of the EDIS were proposed, including the EC proposal of October 2017, and the ‘hybrid 
model’ proposed by the Austrian Presidency in July 2018, where discussions were held on a technical 
level in the Working Party on the Strengthening of the Banking Union to the Council. The summit of the 
eurozone countries in December 2018 mandated the High Level Working Group to hold discussions on the 
EDIS set-up with the ‘hybrid model’ being chosen as the basis for the negotiations. However, no consensus 
was reached in 2019. At the summit in December 2019 the Eurogroup did not agree on a roadmap for 
commencing political negotiations for the EDIS establishment and the ministers put back the dossier for 
discussions on technical level.
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Following the European Parliament elections in 2019, the new President of the European Commission 
stressed the need to establish the EDIS. However, no consensus was reached in 2020, either, during 
the presidencies of Croatia and Germany, given the vast discrepancies in the Member States’ positions, 
including on key issues regarding the design of the EDIS.

International Cooperation

In the year past the BDIF continued actively participating in the work of the European Forum of Deposit 
Insurers. BDIF experts who are members of the working groups on cross-border cooperation, the Banking 
Union, stress tests, risk-based premiums, database, transfer of contributions and public awareness provided 
opinions and comments and participated in the information exchange among its members via queries and 
questionnaires. The multiple meetings, as well as the Annual General Meeting of the European Forum, 
were held online due to the restrictive pandemic regime.

BDIF representatives attended online the Annual General Meeting and Extraordinary General Meeting, as 
well as the working sessions of the International Association of Deposit Insurers. BDIF experts provided 
information to questionnaires and surveys of IADI members.

BDIF has been a founding member of both professional organisations since 2002.

Public Awareness 

The centrepiece of BDIF communication activity is depositor awareness of the major characteristics of the 
deposit guarantee system. To this end BDIF uses versatile communication channels, where BDIF website 
remained the major tool for providing information on BDIF activities and deposit protection. The website’s 
role loomed large in the situation of the state of emergency introduced in March 2020 in Bulgaria with 
regard to the pandemic of COVID-19 and the still ongoing epidemic emergency situation.

Under the Strategy for Raising Public Awareness on the Deposit Guarantee System, further to the 
introductory video on deposit guarantee produced in 2019 – ‘Deposit guarantee system in Bulgaria’, and 
following the 2020 plan, two more thematic videos were produced: ‘Deposit coverage level’ and ‘Payout of 
covered deposits’. They cover the main aspects of deposit guarantee, and the one on coverage shows the 
types of protected deposits. The new videos were also uploaded on the YouTube channel of the Fund and 
in its website in early December 2020. All videos are subtitled in Bulgarian and English.

To celebrate the World Savings Day – 31 October, for a second consecutive year BDIF organised a one-
week internet banner campaign for BDIF, which directed visitors of one of the largest web portals to the 
BDIF website. An accompanying article explaining the main features of the deposit guarantee system was 
posted along.

Human Resource Management

In the state of emergency and epidemic emergency situation, mainly remote working arrangements were 
introduced in order to protect the health of the management and the staff alike.

Despite the situation, following the implementation of the BDIF policy to increase competencies of experts, 
they participated in online trainings in accordance with their qualifications.
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BDIF had 20 employees as of 31 December 2020.

BDIF Organisation Chart as of 1 January 2021

In view of the decision of the Council of Ministers of the Republic of Bulgaria of end-January 2021, 
which extended the term of the epidemic emergency situation announced on 14 May 2020, related to 
the epidemic of COVID-19 until the end of April 2021, as of the date of adoption of this report, BDIF 
management does not expect this to have a significant adverse effect on the plans and operations of the 
Fund in 2021. BDIF has taken the necessary actions to maintain its activities.

This Report was approved by the Management Board of the Bulgarian Deposit Insurance Fund on  
17 March 2021 and signed on its behalf by:

Matey Matev
Chairman of the Management Board 
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Appendix No. 1 Major Financial Indicators of BDIF

Statement of BDIF financial position as at 31 December 2020  

    BGN’000

   31.12.2020 31.12.2019

TOTAL ASSETS   1,415,363 1,084,714

– Cash and cash equivalents   1,080,784 698,081

– Securities reported at fair value in other  
 comprehensive income   85,836 10,406

– Subrogation claims against banks   248,097 375,494

– Property and equipment   530 572

– Intangible and other assets   116 161

TOTAL LIABILITIES   1,182,996 1,191,820

– Attracted funds   1,172,672 1,172,142

– Liabilities on covered deposits   7,633 17,538

– Financing of administrative expenses    2,099 1,546

– Other liabilities   592 594

NET ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)   232,367 (107,106)
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Statement of BDIF operations for the year ended 31 December 2020

    BGN’000

   31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Net income for the year   339,517  200,902

– Premium contributions   161,685 164,075

– Investment income   (5,985) (2,670)

•  Interest income/expense from government securities, net  56 206

• Net gains/(losses) from sale/maturity of government securities  (46) –

•  Interest expense on deposit and current accounts   (5,995) (2,876)

– Earnings/(expenses) on covered deposits with a bank with  
 revoked license   202,520 72,714

– Interest on attracted funds   (18,703) (33,217)

– Income from financing of administrative expenses  2,677 2,756

– General administrative expenses   (2,677) (2,756)

Other components of net assets    

Comprehensive income that will be reported in the Statement 

of Operations in the future   (44) (173)

– Net change in fair value of financial assets reported at fair value  
 in other comprehensive incomeд   (37) (181)

• Losses from revaluation during the year  (173) (181)

•  Less: adjustment from reclassification of gains/(losses) 

 included in the current year result   136 –

– Actuarial (losses)/gains   (7) 8

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE RESULT FOR THE YEAR   339,473 200,729

Statement of BDIF cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2020 

BGN’000

 at 1 January   at 31 December  at 1 January  at 31 December  

 2020  2020 2019 2019

Cash and cash   

equivalents 698,081 1,080,784 650,996 698,081
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Statement of changes in net assets of BDIF as at 31 December 2020

 BGN’000

Balance as at 1 January 2019     (307,835)

Total comprehensive income for the year    200,729

Balance as at 31 December 2019    (107,106)

Total comprehensive income for the year    339,473

Balance as at 31 December 2020    232,367

The structure of the financial assets and liabilities of BDIF as at 31 December by category is 
presented in the table below:

   31.12.2020 31.12.2019

 (BGN’000) (BGN’000)

Financial assets    

‘Financial assets reported at
amortised cost’ category    

Cash and cash equivalents   1,080,784 698,081

‘Financial assets reported at fair value in 
other comprehensive income’ category    

Government securities   85,836 10,406

‘Financial assets reported at fair value in  
the profit and loss’ category    

Subrogation claims against banks   248,097 375,494

   1,414,717 1,083,981

Financial liabilities    

‘Financial liabilities reported at
amortised cost’ category    

Attracted funds   1,172,672 1,172,142

Liabilities on covered deposits   7,633 17,538

Other liabilities   592 594

   1,180,897 1,190,274
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Major financial ratios of BDIF

   31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Return on BDIF total assets   12.56% 3.40%

Ratio of BDIF liquid assets to total assets   81.36% 64.36%

Ratio of BDIF highly liquid assets to total assets  77.08% 64.36%

The return on total assets was determined as a ratio of BDIF result for the year (net of premium contributions) 
to BDIF total assets at the end of the reporting period.

The ratio of liquid assets to total assets of BDIF was calculated as a ratio of the amount of liquid assets 
with maturity of up to one year and the securities issued in foreign markets by the Republic of Bulgaria to 
BDIF total assets.

The ratio of highly liquid assets to total assets of BDIF was determined as a ratio of the amount of cash 
and the market value of the bonds in the BDIF portfolio with a maturity of up to one year to the total assets 
of BDIF.

Appendix No. 2 Overview of the Economic Environment

The Global Economy in 2020

In 2020 the real GDP of the global economy shrank by 4.3 per cent. The development of the COVID-19 
pandemic and the need to impose various restrictions to control the spread of the virus put strong pressure 
on the international exchange of goods and services. As a result, global trade recorded an unprecedented 
decline of 9.5 per cent on an annual basis, after the increases of 4.3 per cent and 1.1 per cent registered 
in 2018 and 2019 respectively. High levels of uncertainty also impacted capital movements, with global 
foreign direct investment shrinking from USD 1,489 billion in 2019 to USD 859 billion in 2020, or a drop of 
42 per cent on an annual basis. The application of a wide range of fiscal incentives to offset the negative 
economic consequences of the pandemic led to further growth in the accumulation of public debt in a 
number of countries. According to IMF data, in 2020 the amount of public spending as a result of the 
pandemic reached approximately USD 14 trillion, and the average ratio of public debt to GDP was record-
high at 98 per cent, increasing by 14 percentage points compared to the end of 2019. Monetary policy in 
the world’s leading economies remained accommodative, and despite relatively low inflation rates, the risk 
of accumulating imbalances in the financial sector remains.

Along with the aftermath of the COVID-19 pandemic over the past year, the US economy was affected by 
the heightened uncertainty over US elections and social tensions. The country’s real GDP decreased by 
3.4 per cent, reporting a negative annual growth rate for the first time since 2009. Labour market signals 
in the United States remained rather mixed. The indicator is forecast to increase by the respective 5.1 per 
cent and 2.1 per cent for 2021 and 2022. Although at the end of the year the unemployment rate in the 
country recovered to the level of 6.7 per cent, after it increased several times to record values of 14.7 per 
cent in April 2020, the signals from the labour sector are varied. As a result from the fiscal measures taken 
during the year in order to control the health and economic consequences of the pandemic, the budget 
deficit in the country reached 14.9 per cent of GDP – the highest value since 1946, and by the end of 
2020 the amount of accumulated public debt reached 98 per cent of GDP. In line with the fiscal measures 
taken, US monetary policy also took an accommodative course. In 2020 the Federal Reserve lowered its 
target for the key interest rate from the 1.75 per cent to 2.00 per cent interval to the 0.00 per cent to -0.25 
per cent interval, signalling that it expects rates to remain close to zero until 2023, and at the last meeting 
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of the institution it was decided to continue the asset purchase programme worth at least USD 120 billion 
monthly until significant progress has been made towards maximum employment and price stability. The 
institution’s inflation target remains at 2 per cent.

In 2020 the economies of the euro area countries were also severely affected by the pandemic, with 
the UK’s departure from the EU, the resulting uncertainty about the real scale of consequences of this 
process putting additional pressure. Last year the real GDP of the euro area registered a negative rate of 
-7.4 per cent. Real GDP is expected to grow by 3.6 per cent in 2021 and by 4.0 per cent in 2022, with a 
full recovery to pre-crisis levels expected in 2023 at the earliest. Despite concerted measures against the 
effects of the pandemic, crisis management in the individual EU Member States, both in terms of health 
and economics, has remained heterogeneous. In terms of monetary policy the ECB continued to pursue 
a highly accommodative monetary policy, with interest rates on core refinancing operations and interest 
rates on marginal lending facilities and deposit facilities remaining at values of 0.00 per cent, 0.25 per cent 
and -0.50 per cent respectively in 2020. In addition, the ECB Executive Board introduced a new Pandemic 
Emergency Purchase Programme, with an initial amount of EUR 750 billion, which was subsequently 
increased to EUR 1.85 trillion, and net purchases under the Asset Purchase Programme were increased 
by an additional temporary package of EUR 120 billion by the end of 2020. The terms of the third series of 
Targeted Long-term Refinancing Operations also underwent further recalibration in order to provide more 
favourable terms to its counterparties.

In 2020 the average growth rate of real GDP of developing economies amounted to -2.6 per cent (compared 
to 3.7 per cent in 2019), and that of developed economies fell to -5.4 per cent (compared to 1.6 per cent in 
2019). It is expected that in 2021 and 2022 the real GDP of the countries of the first group will increase by 
5.2 per cent and 4.3 per cent, and of those of the second – by 3.3 per cent and 3.5 per cent respectively.

The forecasts for global economic growth for 2021 and 2022 are 4.0 per cent and 3.8 per cent respectively. 
Despite expectations of a gradual recovery in global GDP growth, projected inflation is likely to remain 
limited in the short term, with projections for 2021 at 1.5 per cent for developed economies and 4.0 per 
cent for emerging economies. The risks to global recovery in 2021 will remain mainly related to the health 
dimensions of the pandemic and the effectiveness of the measures taken.

Bulgaria’s Economy in 2020

Just like other EU countries the economic activity in Bulgaria reported a sharp slowdown in 2020. The 
restrictive measures imposed as a result of the state of emergency and the epidemic emergency situation 
put strong pressure on the Bulgarian economy over the past year. After Bulgaria’s real GDP increased 
by 1.82 per cent on an annual basis in the first quarter of 2020, the subsequent shock of the COVID-19 
pandemic led to a reversal of the positive trends in the dynamics of the country’s GDP observed in recent 
years. As a result, reported real GDP in the second quarter of 2020 was by 8.45 per cent lower than the 
values in the same quarter of the previous year. In order to overcome the negative effect of the introduction 
of the state of emergency in the country and the economic consequences of the crisis, the Bulgarian 
government initiated a number of anti-crisis measures. At EU level a single plan was drawn up to address 
the effects of the crisis. Despite the measures taken so far, the prospects for the Bulgarian economy 
remain unclear.

In 2020 Bulgaria’s real GDP shrank by 4.15 per cent, while in 2019 it grew by 3.69 per cent. The strongest 
decline in components was observed in exports of goods and services, which decreased by BGN 7.85 
billion or -11.32 per cent compared to the previous year, and the foreign trade deficit increased from BGN 
1.38 billion at the end of 2019 to BGN 4.54 billion by the end of 2020. Gross capital formation amounted to 
BGN 19.52 billion, decreasing by BGN 2.42 billion (-11.02 per cent) compared to the previous year, when a 
value of BGN 21.95 billion was registered. Final consumption expenditure increased by BGN 1.51 billion or 
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1.84 per cent on an annual basis, as individual consumption of households increased by BGN 0.14 billion 
(0.22 per cent) and that of the government sector – by BGN 0.49 billion (5.96 per cent).

Against the background of the favourable trends observed in the development of the labour market in the 
country in recent years, towards the end of 2020 there was certain deterioration. Unemployment rose to 
5.2 per cent from a record low of 4.1 per cent at the end of 2019 and 4.7 per cent at the end of 2018. The 
economic activity rate of people aged 15-64 decreased by 0.3 percentage points compared to its value 
from the previous year.

The total HICP at the end of December 2020 amounted to 0.0 per cent compared to the same month of 
the previous year, reaching its lowest value since 2016. The reported annual change in the HICP in 2020 
was 3.1 per cent.

Bulgaria’s gross external debt at the end of December 2020 amounted to EUR 36.86 billion and increased 
by EUR 1.68 billion (4.8 per cent) compared to the end of 2019 (EUR 35.19 billion). As a percentage of 
GDP, the gross external debt was 61.1 per cent and increased by 3.6 percentage points compared to the 
end of 2019 (57.4 per cent). At the end of 2020 the domestic debt of the Central Government subsector 
amounted to EUR 3,063 million, registering an increase of EUR 75.06 million compared to the end of 2019, 
when it amounted to EUR 2,987.94 million, representing 5.0 per cent of the country’s GDP. The external 
debt of the Central Government subsector amounted to EUR 11,748.21 million, registering an increase 
of EUR 2,688.78 million compared to the end of 2019, when it amounted to EUR 9,059.43 million, and 
represented 19.3 per cent of the country’s GDP. The ratio between the total debt of the Central Government 
subsector and GDP increased last year and amounted to 24.3 per cent. In 2020 Moody’s upgraded the 
country’s credit rating from Baa2 to Baa1, while Fitch and Standard & Poor’s kept their ratings unchanged 
from the end of 2019, shifting the outlook from positive to stable.

As of end-December 2020 the budget balance under the consolidated fiscal program reported a deficit 
amounting to BGN 3,531.6 million, which represented 3.0 per cent of GDP. The formed deficit was a result 
of a surplus in the national budget in the amount of BGN 3,550.8 million and a surplus in the European 
funds in the amount of BGN 19.2 million. The amount of the fiscal reserve at the end of 2020 amounted 
to BGN 8.6 billion and decreased by BGN 0.2 billion compared to the end of 2019.

According to the estimates of the European Commission the growth of the Bulgarian economy in 2021 is 
expected to be 2.7 per cent, and in 2022 to reach 4.9 per cent. The economic recovery from the shock 
suffered in 2020 will remain highly dependent on addressing the health dimensions of the COVID-19 
pandemic.
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Appendix No. 3 Banking System and Deposit Guarantee

3.1. Bulgaria’s Banking System

In 2020 the Bulgarian banking system did not remain unaffected by the economic dimensions of the 
growing global crisis dictated by the COVID-19 pandemic. The decline in the economic activity expectedly 
had an impact on the operations of the credit institutions in the country. Despite the unfavourable 
macroeconomic picture, the Bulgarian banking system managed to absorb the shock of the crisis, mainly 
due to the policy of maintaining high levels of capitalisation and liquidity in recent years, as well as the 
timely institutional response to the situation, while the confidence in the sector remained high. Testament 
to this was the growth observed on an annual basis in both lending and accumulation of deposits. In 
order to preserve the stability of the banking system and strengthen its flexibility in the conditions of the 
ongoing epidemic emergency situation in the country, the Bulgarian National Bank implemented a package 
of measures worth BGN 9.3 billion. The measures taken were in the form of capitalisation of the full 
amount of profits made by banks, reduction of some of the banks’ foreign exposures in order to provide 
additional liquidity and cancellation of the planned for 2020 and 2021 increases in the countercyclical 
capital buffer. Further, in accordance with the EBA Guidelines on legislative and non-legislative moratoria 
on loan repayments applied in the light of the COVID-19 crisis (EBA/GL/2020/02) the BNB also approved 
a temporary moratorium on credit payments. Along with the measures taken by the BNB, the government 
increased the capital of the Bulgarian Development Bank by BGN 700 million, with BGN 500 million of the 
additional resource to be used to provide portfolio guarantees for bank loans to companies, and BGN 200 
million – for the guarantee of interest-free consumer loans in the amount of up to BGN 1,500. A program 
for bank guarantees worth BGN 170 million, which aimed to secure corporate loans worth a total of BGN 
850 million was also implemented by the Fund of Funds, i.e. the Fund Manager of Financial Instruments 
in Bulgaria.

Against the background of the complicated economic and health situation on 1 October 2020 the Republic 
of Bulgaria officially became a member of the European Banking Union. Following the country’s accession 
to the Single Supervisory Mechanism and the Single Resolution Mechanism, the functions of supervising 
five systemically important Bulgarian banks were transferred from the BNB to the European Central Bank, 
and those of a resolution authority – to the Single Resolution Board.

The total assets of the banking system in 2020 increased by BGN 9.8 billion (8.59 per cent) to BGN 124.01 
billion1. The share of ‘cash, cash balances with central banks and other demand deposits’ in the assets of 
the banking system increased from 15.88 per cent at the end of 2019 to 21.87 per cent at the end of 2020. 
The share of the net value of loans and advances from the total value of assets amounted to 58.94 per 
cent reaching BGN 73.09 billion2. Receivables from credit institutions decreased by BGN 7.51 billion (51.13 
per cent) and those from central banks amounted to BGN 0. The gross loan portfolio of the banking system 
(excluding loans and advances to the central banks and credit institutions sectors) increased by 4.84 per 
cent (BGN 3.21 billion), or at a slower pace than in the previous year (8.84 per cent). Compared to the 
end of 2019 loans to non-financial corporations and households were BGN 1.47 billion (4.02 per cent) 
and BGN 1.69 billion (6.98 per cent) higher, respectively. Loans to General Government sector decreased 
by BGN 0.04 billion (3.84 per cent) and those to other financial corporations – by BGN 0.09 billion (1.85 
per cent). In the breakdown of gross loans and advances, the share of loans to non-financial corporations 
remained the highest – 49.61 per cent, followed by that of households – 33.75 per cent. The share of loans 

1 The data source on the banking system in the report is the publicly available data of the BNB.
2 Unlike the period of June 2015 – March 2020, ‘cash, cash balances with central banks and other demand deposits’ shall not be included in 
  the scope of gross loans and advances, but shall be reported separately.
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and advances to credit institutions, other financial corporations and General Government sector was 9.36 
per cent, 6.10 per cent and 1.17 per cent respectively.

The gross amount of non-performing loans and advances amounted to BGN 5.71 billion, which represented 
7.45 per cent of the total gross value of loans and advances. The item relating to non-performing loans 
unlikely to be repaid on schedule or with a delay of less than or equal to 90 days, reported an increase of 
9.30 per cent (BGN 0.20 billion) over the past year, and non-performing loans in arrears between 90 days 
and 180 days and those in arrears for more than 180 days decreased by 33.52 per cent (BGN 0.15 billion) 
and 13.22 per cent (BGN 0.46 billion) respectively. Non-performing loans of non-financial corporations 
decreased by 9.01 per cent on an annual basis, decreasing to BGN 3.80 billion, while those of households 
increased by 0.55 per cent and reached BGN 1.78 billion, while non-performing loans secured by residential 
property decreased by 5.63 per cent, and non-performing consumer loans increased by 5.74 per cent. The 
accumulated impairment for credit risk and provisions amounted to BGN 3.59 billion (BGN 3.62 billion at 
end-2019), which represented 4.68 per cent (3.83 per cent at end-2019) of the gross carrying amount of 
the accommodated loans and advances. The net value of non-performing loans and advances at the end 
of 2020 was BGN 3.06 billion (BGN 3.18 billion at end-2019).

Deposits in the banking system increased and by the end of 2020 reached BGN 105.73 billion, reporting 
an annual increase of BGN 8.52 billion (8.77 per cent), outpacing the increase of BGN 7.51 billion (8.37 
per cent) registered in 2019. A decrease in the volume of deposits was observed for other financial 
corporations, which decreased by BGN 0.12 billion (3.57 per cent) and by the end of 2020 amounted 
to BGN 3.30 billion or 3.12 per cent of the total amount of deposits, as well as for deposits of credit 
institutions, which decreased by BGN 0.30 billion (5.53 per cent) and at year-end amounted to BGN 5.06 
billion or 4.79 per cent of the total deposits. Deposits of households increased by BGN 5.02 billion (8.71 
per cent), reaching BGN 62.64 billion, and those of non-financial corporations – by BGN 3.55 billion (12.61 
per cent), reaching BGN 31.70 billion. Structurе-wise, the shares of deposits of households and those of 
non-financial corporations in the total amount of deposits did not undergo significant changes, as at end-
2020 they amounted to 59.24 per cent and 29.98 per cent respectively, compared to their values of 59.27 
per cent and 28.96 per cent registered at end-2019. Deposits of the General Government sector increased 
by BGN 0.37 billion (13.83 per cent).

The country’s banking system was in a stable liquidity position as of end-2020. The amount of the liquidity 
buffer increased from BGN 30.9 billion at end-2019 to BGN 36.2 billion by the end of 2020. Net cash 
outflows increased by BGN 1.5 billion on an annual basis to BGN 13.0 billion. The liquidity coverage ratio 
amounted to 279 per cent.

The realised profit in the banking system in 2020 decreased by 51.36 per cent compared to a year earlier 
to BGN 0.81 billion. Net operating income decreased by 1.65 per cent, as interest income decreased by 
0.98 per cent, fee and commission income – by 6.45 per cent, and interest expenses increased by 23.43 
per cent. Expenses for impairment of financial assets, which are not reported at fair value in profit or loss, 
increased by BGN 0.45 billion (103.44 per cent) last year. The rate of return on assets and the rate of 
return on equity at the end of 2020 amounted to 0.66 per cent and 5.31 per cent respectively.

The major challenge for Bulgaria’s banking system is dealing with the consequences of the COVID-19 
pandemic. In the short and medium term growth of non-performing loans and reduction in profits may be 
expected, as well as a certain growth in the share of non-performing loans as the expiration of the non-
legislative moratorium at the end of March 2021 may contribute to this.
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3  As at 1 January 2021

3.2. Banks in the Deposit Guarantee System

At the beginning of the year the member banks of the deposit guarantee system in the Republic of 
Bulgaria were 20 and at year-end one less due to the reorganisation of Expressbank through merger into 
DSK Bank. After the merger was entered in the Commercial Register on 30 April 2020 the deposits with 
Expressbank and DSK Bank were guaranteed separately for a period of six months. Upon expiration of 
this period, a depositor’s funds with both banks prior to the merger were aggregated for the purposes of 
calculating the guaranteed sum.

BDIF Member Banks3

• Allianz Bank Bulgaria

• Bulgarian-American Credit Bank

• Bulgarian Development Bank

• Central Cooperative Bank

• D Commerce Bank

• DSK Bank

• Eurobank Bulgaria (Post Bank)

• First Investment Bank

• International Asset Bank

• Investbank

• Municipal Bank

• ProCredit Bank (Bulgaria)

• Raiffeisenbank (Bulgaria)

• TBI Bank

• T. Ç. Ziraat Bank – Sofia Branch

• Texim Bank

• Tokuda Bank

• UniCredit Bulbank

• United Bulgarian Bank

Note: The credit institutions listed below are branches of banks from EU Member States and they do not 
participate in the deposit guarantee scheme in the Republic of Bulgaria since they are protected by the 
applicable home country scheme:

• Bigbank AS – Bulgaria Branch

• BNP Paribas S.A. – Sofia Branch

• BNP Paribas Personal Finance S.A. – Bulgaria Branch

• Citibank Europe Plc. – Bulgaria Branch

• ING Bank N.V. – Sofia Branch

• Varengold Bank AG – Sofia Branch
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3.3. Deposits Covered by the Deposit Guarantee System

The total amount of eligible deposits as at 31 December 2020 was BGN 92,527,733 thousand (31 December 
2019: BGN 84,561,494 thousand). The total number of depositors was 7,619,851 (31 December 2019: 
7,923,003). The average deposit amount per depositor was BGN 12,143, and in 2019 – 10,673.

In 2020 the aggregate sum of eligible deposits rose by 9.42 per cent. There was an increase in the 
average deposit amount per depositor, which in 2020 increased by 13.77 per cent compared to 2019, or by  
BGN 1,470.
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Breakdown of deposits by currency

BGN-denominated deposits reached BGN 57,021,364 thousand (61.63 per cent).

EUR-denominated deposits accounted for BGN 29,124,646 thousand (31.47 per cent).

Deposits in other currencies amounted to BGN 6,381,723 thousand (6.90 per cent).

Compared to the previous year, no substantial changes occurred in depositor preferences concerning the 
currencies in which their funds were held.

Deposit breakdown by currency (BGN million)

Breakdown of deposits by source

The amount of deposits of non-financial corporations was BGN 29,037,421 thousand (31.38 per cent), 
where depositors numbered 468,935 (6.15 per cent). In 2020 those deposits grew by BGN 2,778,332 
thousand (10.58 per cent), while the number of depositors decreased by 15,560 (-3.21 per cent) compared 
to 2019.

Household deposits reached BGN 63,201,182 thousand (68.31 per cent), where depositors were 7,147,285 
in number (93.80 per cent). In 2020 household deposits posted growth in value by BGN 5,235,013 thousand 
(9.03 per cent), while the number of depositors decreased by 286,987 (-3.86 per cent).

Deposits of depositors under Art. 12, para 3 of the LBDG amounted to BGN 289,130 thousand (0.31 per 
cent), where the number of depositors was 3,631 (0.05 per cent).

Source: BDIF
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Deposit breakdown by source (number in thousand, amount in BGN million)

Covered deposits

As of 31 December 2020 the amount of covered deposits totalled BGN 65,768 million compared to BGN 
60,494 million as of 31 December 2019 (8.72 per cent up).

As of 31 December 2020 the guarantee coverage ratio, i.e. the ratio between covered and eligible deposits, 
was 70.98 per cent compared to 71.54 per cent in 2019.
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Annual premium contributions by banks for 2020

All banks paid duly their annual premium contributions for 2020, amounting to BGN 161,685 thousand.

In 2020 there were no newly established banks in Bulgaria for inclusion in the deposit guarantee scheme.

Appendix No. 4 Investment Policy and Asset Management

Managing BDIF assets in accordance with the public interest is a paramount principle in the LBDG and 
BDIF internal regulations governing the investment activities. A major responsibility of BDIF is to safeguard 
and guarantee public funds managed in line with the following principles: 

• safety and protection of capital;

• liquidity to cover liabilities; and 

• risk minimisation and income optimisation.

In accordance with the LBDG and the BDIF Investment Policy BDIF funds may be invested in deposits with 
the Bulgarian National Bank or in highly liquid debt securities, issued or guaranteed by the Bulgarian state 
or issued by other Member States or third countries, the European Central Bank, the European Investment 
Bank, the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development or other foreign financial institutions, or 
international financial organisations, including supranational organisations of Member States assigned one 
of the two highest credit ratings by two credit rating agencies, registered or certified in line with Regulation 
(EC) No. 1060/2009.

Until 27 July 2020 under the LRRCIIF BDIF Management Board also took decisions for investing the funds 
of the Bank Resolution Fund in compliance with the principles of security, liquidity and diversification, 
as well as all other regulatory requirements. On 27 July 2020 the funds of the BRF in the amount of  
BGN 701.17 million were transferred to the Bulgarian National Bank in its capacity as resolution authority 
with regard to the requirement of § 56, para 1 of the Transitional and Final Provisions of the Law on 
Amendment of the Law on the Recovery and Resolution of Credit Institutions and Investment Firms and by 
virtue of Art. 7 of Council Regulation (EU) No. 1024/2013 and Decision (EU) 2020/1015 of the European 
Central Bank of 24 June 2020 on the establishment of close cooperation between the European Central 
Bank and the Bulgarian National Bank (ECB/2020/30).

Investment Portfolio

The investment portfolio of BDIF as at 31 December 2020 was BGN 1,163,939 thousand compared to  
BGN 706,390 thousand as at the end of 2019. The growth in the portfolio of BDIF for 2020 was  
BGN 457,549 thousand and was largely due to the combined effect of the inflow on 8 September 2020 
of the funds BDIF was allocated with from the second partial distribution account of accepted claims to  
KTB (in bankruptcy) in the amount BGN 320.65 million and the collected annual premium contributions 
from banks to BDIF for 2020 equalling BGN 161.69 million.

In 2020 the resources of BDIF were invested in deposits with the BNB and in bonds issued by the Bulgarian 
government. The share of bonds went up from 1.47 per cent of total assets as at end-2019 to 7.37 per 
cent as at the end of 2020, where the increase in the share of bonds was resultant from BDIF purchases 
of Bulgarian government securities in the primary and secondary markets in order to reduce interest 
expenses on BGN and EUR deposits with the BNB. During the year BDIF did not make purchases of 
foreign debt securities in view of the market situation.
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During the year BDIF continued to service its obligations to the IBRD and the EBRD in accordance with the 
Loan Agreements with both institutions concluded in 2016 and providing government guaranteed loans to 
BDIF. As at end-2020 BDIF liabilities on the government guaranteed loans to both international financial 
institutions stood at BGN 586.95 million to IBRD and BGN 585.73 million to EBRD. 

The liabilities on the loans from the IBRD and EBRD are targeted and are not regarded as part of the 
investment portfolio of BDIF.

BDIF Portfolio
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Assets (Instrument Breakdown)

Investment portfolio profitability

The weighted average yield to maturity of BDIF’s bond portfolio which stood at 1.26 per cent at the 
beginning of 2020 dropped to 0.08 per cent at the end of the first quarter and declined further in the 
fourth quarter to 0.00 per cent as of year-end. The decrease was due to the purchases of government 
securities in the primary and secondary markets made during the year, the yield on which was lower than 
the average for the portfolio thus far. The weighted average yield of the entire BDIF investment portfolio 
reported a minimal increase during the year to -0.65 per cent compared to the level of -0.67 per cent at 
the end of 2019, due to the increase in the share of bonds in the portfolio, the yield to maturity of which is 
higher than the interest rate on BGN and EUR deposits with the BNB.
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Portfolio Assets Profitability

Currency breakdown of investment portfolio

In 2020 the currency breakdown of BDIF’s investment portfolio witnessed a moderate increase in the share 
of BGN instruments at the expense of those in euro. In the second and third quarters the increase in the 
share of BGN instruments was significantly stronger as a result of the annual premiums received from 
banks at the end of April and in May, as well from the sum received in early September as per the second 
partial distribution account of accepted claims to KTB (in bankruptcy). At the end of the fourth quarter the 
share of BGN instruments decreased slightly as a result of purchases of euro bonds. As of year-end the 
BGN exposure accounted for 82.67 per cent of the aggregate investment portfolio, and that in EUR and 
USD – for 17.33 per cent and 0.00 per cent of the portfolio respectively.

Source: BDIF
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Portfolio Currency Breakdown (Assets)

Maturity breakdown of the investment portfolio (assets). Modified duration of bonds in the portfolio

In 2020 the BDIF investment portfolio was characterised by a short-term maturity structure, with the share 
of assets with a maturity of up to one year at 93.51 per cent at the end of the year. The bulk of the assets 
in the BDIF investment portfolio was concentrated in funds on overnight deposits with the BNB, which at the 
end of the year had a share of 92.63 per cent. Debt securities had a share of 7.37 per cent of the assets 
in the BDIF investment portfolio and were in the maturity segment of up to five years.

In view of the market situation BDIF maintained a low modified duration of the bond portfolio in 2020, 
although the indicator marked a certain increase during the year. As of the end of 2020 the modified 
duration of the bond portfolio was at the level of 2.09 compared to 1.12 as of 31 December 2019, as the 
increase in the indicator was mainly resultant from the purchases of government securities in 2020.
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Portfolio Maturity Breakdown (Assets)

Bond Portfolio Modified Duration

Financial result 

BDIF investment income for 2020 totalled BGN (5,985) thousand compared to BGN (2,670) thousand in 
2019. The net change in the fair value of financial assets reported at fair value in other comprehensive 
income in 2020 was BGN (37) thousand compared to BGN (181) thousand in 2019.

Source: BDIF

3.00
 

2.80
 

2.60
 

2.40
 

2.20
 

2.00
Q1 2020 Q2 2020 Q3 2020 Q4 2020

2.81

2.57

2.33

2.09

Bonds

Source: BDIF

100%

90%

80%

70%

60%

50%

40%

30%

20%

10%

0%
Up to 1 year 1 to 3 years 3 to 5 years 5 to 10 years Over 10 years

Q1 2020 Q3 2020Q2 2020 Q4 2020

92
.9

8%

95
.7

0%

93
.5

1%

4.
89

%

4.
14

%

3.
02

%

5.
20

%

2.
13

%

1.
30

%

1.
27

%

1.
29

%

0.
00

%

0.
45

%

0.
00

%

0.
00

%

0.
00

%

0.
00

%

0.
00

%

0.
00

%

94
.1

1%









ANNUAL FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 



40

Annual Report 2020

BDIF Annual Financial Statements for 2020

Contents

Statement of Operations 41 

Statement of Financial Position 42 

Statement of Cash Flows 43

Statement of Changes in Net Assets 44

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements 45

 1.  General Information 45

 2.  Summary of the Significant Accounting Policies of BDIF 47

 3.  Premium Contributions 62 

 4.  Investment Income 63

 5.  Earnings/Expenses on Covered Deposits  
  with a Bank with Revoked License 63

  6.  Interest on Attracted Funds 64

 7.  General Administrative Earnings/Expenses 64

 8.  Cash and Cash Equivalents 66

 9.  Securities Reported at Fair Value in Other  
  Comprehensive Income 67 

 10.  Subrogation Claims Against Banks 69 

 11.  Property and Equipment 71

 12.  Intangible and Other Assets 72

 13.  Attracted Funds 73 

 14.  Liabilities on Covered Deposits 74

 15.  Financing of Administrative Expenses 74

 16.  Other Liabilities 75

 17.  Financial Risk Management 75

 18.  Relations and Transactions with Government  
  Institutions, Authorities and Enterprises 87 

 19.  Events After the Reporting Period 87



41

Annual Report 2020

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

for the year ended 31 December 2020

 Notes 2020 2019

  (BGN’000)  (BGN’000)

Premium contributions 3 161,685 164,075

Investment income 4 (5,985) (2,670)

Earnings/(expenses) on covered deposits  

with a bank with revoked license 5 202,520 72,714

Interest on attracted funds 6 (18,703) (33,217)

Income from financing of administrative  

expenses 7 2,677 2,756

General administrative expenses 7 (2,677) (2,756)

Net income for the year  339,517 200,902

Other components of net assets

Comprehensive income that   

will be reported in the Statement

of Operations in the future  (44) (173)

Net change in fair value of financial 

assets reported at fair value 

in other comprehensive income 4 (37) (181)

Actuarial (losses)/gains  (7) 8

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE RESULT 
FOR THE YEAR  339,473 200,729

The accompanying notes on pages 45 to 87 form an integral part of the financial statements
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

as at 31 December 2020

 Notes 2020 2019

  (BGN’000)  (BGN’000)

ASSETS   

Cash and cash equivalents 8 1,080,784 698,081

Securities reported at fair value 

in other comprehensive income 9 85,836 10,406

Subrogation claims against banks 10 248,097 375,494

Property and equipment 11 530 572

Intangible and other assets 12 116 161

TOTAL ASSETS  1,415,363 1,084,714

LIABILITIES   

Attracted funds 13 1,172,672 1,172,142

Liabilities on covered deposits 14 7,633 17,538

Financing of administrative expenses 15 2,099 1,546

Other liabilities 16 592 594

TOTAL LIABILITIES  1,182,996 1,191,820

NET ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)  232,367 (107,106)

The accompanying notes on pages 45 to 87 form an integral part of the financial statements
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

for the year ended 31 December 2020

 Notes 2020 2019

  (BGN’000)  (BGN’000)

Cash flows from operating activities   

Cash receipts from banks as premium  
contributions  161,685 164,076

Proceeds of partial distribution accounts  
from KTB (in bankruptcy)  320,850 418,226

(Payments)/proceeds on covered deposits, net  (838) (2,044)

Cash paid to employees and for social security  (1,753) (1,699)

Taxes paid  (180) (173)

Other proceeds/(payments) of operating

activities, net  2,631 2,581

Net cash flows from operating activities  482,395     580,967    
   

Cash flows from investing activities   

Proceeds related to securities reported at fair 
value in other comprehensive income  4,563 12,296 

Payments related to securities and cash  (86,015) (2,889)

Purchases of equipment and other assets  (67) (71)

Net cash flows used in investing activities  (81,519) 9,336

Cash flows from financing activities   

Repaid principal and interest paid  
to Republic of Bulgaria  – (525,067)

Loan (interest paid) from IBRD, net  (9,201) (9,202)

Interest paid to EBRD  (8,972) (8,949)

Net cash flows used in financing activities  (18,173) (543,218)

Increase in cash flows during the year    382,703 47,085

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January   698,081 650,996

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 8 1,080,784 698,081 

The accompanying notes on pages 45 to 87 form an integral part of the financial statements
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS 

for the year ended 31 December 2020

 

 Accumulated  Revaluation Net

 result reserve:  (liabilities)/

  government assets

  securities

   reported at   

  fair value

  in other 

  comprehensive

  income  
 (BGN’000) (BGN’000) (BGN’000)

Balance as at 1 January 2019 (308,146) 311 (307,835)

   

Result for the year 200,902 – 200,902

Net change in fair value of financial  

assets reported at fair value in other 

comprehensive income – (181) (181)

Actuarial gains – 8 8

Total comprehensive income 200,902 (173) 200,729

Balance as at 31 December 2019 (107,244) 138 (107,106)

   

Result for the year 339,517 – 339,517

Net change in fair value of financial  

assets reported at fair value in other 

comprehensive income – (37) (37)

Actuarial losses –                        (7)                       (7)

Total comprehensive income 339,517 (44) 339,473

   

Balance as at 31 December 2020 232,273 94 232,367

 

The accompanying notes on pages 45 to 87 form an integral part of the financial statements
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for 2020

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Information on BDIF

The Bulgarian Deposit Insurance Fund was established by the Law on Bank Deposit Guarantee published 
in Darjaven Vestnik, issue 49 of 29 April 1998, repealed and replaced with the Law on Bank Deposit 
Guarantee published in Darjaven Vestnik, issue 62 of 14 August 2015, transposing Directive 2014/49/EU. 
In 2015 the Law on the Recovery and Resolution of Credit Institutions and Investment Firms entered into 
force, transposing Directive 2014/59/EU, stipulating BDIF functions in the process of resolution of banks. 
The LBDG and LRRCIIF were amended in 2019, whereby BNB, in its capacity as bank resolution authority, 
shall manage a bank resolution fund as of the date of enforcement of the decision of the European 
Central Bank on close cooperation under Art. 7 of Council Regulation (EU) No. 1024/2013 of 15 October 
2013 conferring specific tasks on the European Central Bank concerning policies relating to the prudential 
supervision of credit institutions. Individual sub-funds shall be established: a sub-fund to finance the 
application of resolution tools and exercise resolution powers under the LRRCIIF in respect of branches 
of third-country credit institutions, and a sub-fund to raise contributions under Articles 69, 70 and 71 of 
Regulation (EU) No 806/2014 and their transfer to the SRF. The administrative costs of the bank resolution 
fund, as of the date of enforcement of the decision of the European Central Bank on close cooperation 
under Art. 7 of Council Regulation (EU) No. 1024/2013 shall be funded from the fees collected by the BNB 
in connection with its resolution function under Art. 59a of the Law on the Bulgarian National Bank. BDIF 
Management Board shall organise the provision of funds for the financing of the resolution pursuant to Art. 
144 of the Law on the Recovery and Resolution of Credit Institutions and Investment Firms.

On 10 July 2020 the accession of the Republic of Bulgaria to the Banking Union was announced, in 
accordance with the commitments assumed by the country, alongside with the joining of the Bulgarian lev 
in the Exchange Rate Mechanism II. On 13 July 2020 Decision (EU) 2020/1015 of the European Central 
Bank of 24 June 2020 on the establishment of close cooperation between the European Central Bank 
and the Bulgarian National Bank (ECB/2020/30) was published in the Official Journal of the European 
Union. On 27 July 2020, pursuant to § 56, para 1 of the Transitional and Final Provisions of the Law 
on Amendment of the Law on the Recovery and Resolution of Credit Institutions and Investment Firms 
(published in Darjaven Vestnik, issue 37 of 2019) and within the statutory deadline of 14 days following 
the release of the ECB decision, all resources of the Bank Resolution Fund amounting to BGN 701,166 
thousand were transferred to an account of the BNB in its capacity as resolution authority.

The objective of BDIF is to contribute to the stability of and trust in the financial system of the Republic 
of Bulgaria, by ensuring deposit protection and repayment of covered deposits, contributing to the 
effectiveness of the process of resolution of credit institutions as specified in the LRRCIIF and providing 
adequate protection of creditors’ interests in bank bankruptcy proceedings. According to the LBDG, the 
BDIF activity involves determining and collecting annual and extraordinary contributions from all banks 
licensed under the Law on Credit Institutions and their branches in other Member States, as well as from 
bank branches seated in a third country and licensed to perform activities in the Republic of Bulgaria by 
the BNB, where no deposit guarantee scheme is in place or such a scheme exists but it does not cover 
bank branches abroad, or the amount or scope of the guarantee is lesser than the amount or scope of the 
deposit guarantee provided for in the LBDG. BDIF invests the collected funds as per the provisions in the 
LBDG. If the BNB revokes the license of a bank or announces the deposits therein unavailable, or where, 
due to a judicial authority act, depositors have no access to their funds with a bank, BDIF reimburses 
up to BGN 196,000 for deposits of individuals and legal entities and up to BGN 250,000 for the deposits 
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specified under Art. 10 of the LBDG. Along with these functions, BDIF also performs the functions set out 
in the Law on Bank Bankruptcy and is involved in the financing of the resolution of credit institutions by 
taking on losses for insured depositors in the resolution process pursuant to the terms and conditions of 
the LRRCIIF.

The Management Board of BDIF prepared interim financial statements of the Bank Resolution Fund as 
at 26 July 2020 and along with the transfer of funds on 27 July 2020 submitted them to the BNB in its 
capacity as resolution authority. 

BDIF does not prepare and publish consolidated financial statements of the Bulgarian Deposit Insurance 
Fund and the Bank Resolution Fund, as the two funds are not parent and subsidiary companies. BRF is 
not an autonomous legal entity and BDIF acts as a manager company of BRF without controlling it within 
the meaning of the requirements of Art. 7 of IFRS 10 ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’.

For the requirements of statistics and of tax administration, the data BDIF submits is consolidated for 
both funds. In the Statement of Equity, net assets of the Bank Resolution Fund as at 31 December  
2019 – amounting to BGN 545,720 thousand, are disclosed as decrease of the financial result from 
previous years.

The financial reporting of BDIF is in accordance with the principles and requirements of the International 
Accounting Standards.

The address and headquarters of BDIF are: 27 Vladayska Street, 1606 Sofia, Bulgaria.

The personnel as at 31 December 2020 comprised 20 employees (31 December 2019: 20).

Regulatory framework of BDIF activities

BDIF operations are regulated by the Law on Bank Deposit Guarantee in force from 14 August 2015.

This Law requires that BDIF funds are invested in deposits with the Bulgarian National Bank or in highly 
liquid debt securities, issued or guaranteed by the Bulgarian State or issued by other Member States or 
third countries, assigned one of the two highest credit ratings by two credit rating agencies, registered 
or certified in line with Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009, or by the European Central Bank, the European 
Investment Bank, the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development or other foreign financial 
institutions or international financial organisations assigned one of the two highest credit ratings by two 
credit rating agencies, registered or certified in line with Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009.

BDIF is governed by a Management Board consisting of five members designated as follows:

 - the Chairman of the Management Board – by the Council of Ministers;

 - the Deputy Chairman of the Management Board – by the BNB Governing Council;

 - one member – by the Association of Banks in Bulgaria;

 - two members – jointly by the Chairman and the Deputy Chairman of the Management Board of BDIF.

The Chairman of the Management Board organises and manages the daily operations of BDIF and the 
administrative personnel and represents BDIF in Bulgaria and abroad.

The term of office of the Management Board of BDIF is four years. As at 31 December 2020 the 
Management Board of the Bulgarian Deposit Insurance Fund comprised:

 -  Matey Matev – Chairman of the Management Board of BDIF, nominated by Resolution No. 161 of the  
 Council of Ministers dated 26 March 2019;

 - Nelly Kordovska – Deputy Chairwoman of the Management Board of BDIF, nominated by Resolution  
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  No. 7 of the Governing Council of the BNB dated 15 January 2015;

 - Irina Martseva – member, nominated by Resolution of the Management Board of the Association of  
  Banks in Bulgaria dated 12 June 2019;

 - Borislav Stratev – member, appointed by Order No. 92-0077 of the Chairman and the Deputy Chairwoman  
  of the Management Board of BDIF dated 22 July 2015;

 - Valery Dimitrov – member, appointed by Order No. 92-0077 of the Chairman and the Deputy Chairwoman  
  of the Management Board of BDIF dated 22 July 2015.

2. SUMMARY OF THE SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES OF BDIF

Accounting policies

The significant accounting policies that were followed in drawing up the financial statements are presented 
below. The adopted accounting policies are consistent with those applied in the previous reporting period, 
unless specified otherwise.

Basis for the preparation of the financial statements

The financial statements of BDIF were prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting 
Standards and the interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Standards Interpretations 
Committee as adopted by the European Union. The EU-adopted IFRS is the generally adopted name of a 
framework with an overall purpose of trustworthy disclosure equivalent to the definition of the framework 
introduced by force of § 1, item 8 of the Additional Provisions of the Accountancy Law – ‘International 
Accounting Standards’.

Historical cost principle

The present financial statements were prepared according to the historical cost principle, with the exception 
of financial assets classified as: reported at fair value in other comprehensive income (government 
securities) and reported at fair value in the profit and loss (claims on KTB (in bankruptcy)) that are 
measured at fair value. Defined benefits for personnel (provisions for retirement) are another exception, 
those being valued at present value of the liabilities according to actuarial methods.

BDIF keeps its accounting records in Bulgarian levs (BGN), and the financial statements are denominated 
in BGN as the adopted currency for reporting purposes of the entity. The items in the financial statements 
and in the notes thereof are rounded to the nearest thousand (BGN’000), unless explicitly specified 
otherwise.

Going concern

The financial statements were prepared in accordance with the going concern principle under which BDIF 
is assumed to continue its existence in the foreseeable future. 

Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
requires that the management adopts the most appropriate estimates, accruals and reasonable assumptions 
that have an effect on reported values of assets and liabilities, incomes and expenses, and disclosures of 
contingent receivables and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements. These estimates, accruals 
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and assumptions are based on the information available as of the date of the financial statements, 
therefore future actual result may differ from those. Items in the financial statements presuming a higher 
level of subjective assessment and complexity or where the assumptions and accounting estimates have 
a material effect on the financial statements, are disclosed separately in Note 2.12.

2.1. New and amended standards adopted by the Bulgarian Deposit Insurance Fund

The Fund applied the following standards and amendments for the first time for its annual financial 
reporting period starting on 1 January 2020:

• Amendments to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (issued on 29 March 2018 and 
effective for annual reporting periods starting on or after 1 January 2020)

• ‘Definition of Material’ – Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 (issued on 31 October 2018 and effective for 
annual reporting periods starting on or after 1 January 2020)

• Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 (issued on 26 September 
2019 and effective for annual reporting periods starting on or after 1 January 2020)

• ‘Definition of a Business’ – Amendments to IFRS 3 (issued on 22 October 2018 and effective for 
acquisitions from the beginning of the annual reporting period starting on or after 1 January 2020)

• Amendment to IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ – Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions (issued on 28 May 2020 and 
effective for annual reporting periods starting on or after 1 June 2020)

All amendments in the adopted standards listed above have no effect on the amounts recognised in 
previous periods and they are not expected to significantly impact current or future periods alike.

2.1.1. New standards, interpretations and amendments pending adoption by the Fund

Some new accounting standards and interpretations have been released that were not mandatory for 
application during the reporting period as at 31 December 2020 and were not adopted early by the Fund. 
The assessment of the Fund of the impact of these new standards and interpretations is provided below.

• Amendment to IFRS 4 ‘Insurance Contracts’ – Deferral of effective date of IFRS 9 (issued on 25 June 
2020 and effective for annual reporting periods starting on or after 1 January 2021)

• Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 – Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – 
Phase 2 (issued on 27 August 2020 and effective for annual reporting periods starting on or after  
1 January 2021)

There are no other standards that are pending adoption and that are expected to have a significant effect 
on BDIF in the current or a future reporting period, or on transactions in the foreseeable future.

2.1.2. New standards, interpretations and amendments pending adoption by the EU

• IFRS 17 ‘Insurance Contracts’ (issued on 18 May 2017 and effective for annual reporting periods starting 
on or after 1 January 2023), including Amendment to IFRS 17 (issued on 25 June 2020)

•Amendment to IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’: Classification of Liabilities as Current or 
Non-current and Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current – Deferral of Effective Date 
(issued on 23 January 2020 and 15 July 2020 respectively and effective for annual reporting periods 
starting on or after 1 January 2023)

•Amendments to IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’, IAS 16 ‘Property, Plant and Equipment’, IAS 37 
‘Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets’, Annual Improvements to IFRS 2018-2020 
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Cycle (issued on 14 May 2020 and effective for annual reporting periods starting on or after 1 January 
2022)

2.2. Comparatives

In these financial statements BDIF presents comparative information for one prior year. Where necessary, 
comparative data is reclassified (restated) in order to achieve compatibility in view of the current-year 
presentation changes.

2.3. Functional currency and recognition of exchange differences

The functional and presentation currency of BDIF is the Bulgarian lev. The Bulgarian lev was pegged to 
the euro at a rate of BGN 1.95583 : EUR 1.

Upon its initial recognition, a foreign currency transaction is recorded in the functional currency whereas the 
exchange rate at the date of the transaction or operation is applied to the foreign currency amount. Cash, 
receivables and payables, as monetary reporting items denominated in foreign currency, are recorded in 
the functional currency by applying the exchange rate as quoted by the Bulgarian National Bank for the 
last working day of the respective month. As at 31 December these amounts are presented in Bulgarian 
levs at the closing exchange rate of the BNB.

The non-monetary items in the statement of financial position, which are initially denominated in foreign 
currency, are accounted for in the functional currency by applying the historical exchange rate at the date 
of the transaction and are not subsequently revalued at the closing exchange rate.

Foreign currency translation differences arising from the settlement or recording of foreign currency 
transactions at rates different from those at which they were converted on initial recognition, are included 
in the statement of operations (within the result for the year) as current income and expenses at the time 
when they arise and are treated as ‘other income/(losses)’ from operations and are presented net. 

2.4. Premium contributions income

Premium contributions income represents the annual contributions to BDIF by banks having a license 
granted by the BNB and foreign bank branches. The payment deadline is by 31 May of the current year. 
Premium contributions income is recognised in the statement of operations (within the result for the year) 
on the date when the contributions are received but not later than the date on which they become due 
under law. After this date, penalty interest for delay is charged and presented as ‘other income/(losses), 
net’ on the face of the statement of operations. It is calculated on a statutory interest rate basis.

2.5. Investment income

Investment income includes interest on government securities, realised gains and losses from sales and 
revaluation of financial instruments carried at fair value through profit and the accumulated effects from 
revaluation of sold or derecognised financial assets.

The effects of the net change in fair value of government securities (change in the ‘revaluation reserve’ of 
financial assets reported at fair value in other comprehensive income) are reported as a change in ‘other 
component of net assets’ of BDIF in the statement of operations.

Interest income is recognised in the statement of operations (within the result for the year) for all financial 
instruments and is accrued on an ongoing basis by applying the effective interest rate method. They 
also include premium/discount amortisation and any other difference between the original cost and the 
settlement value (repayment or disposal) of the financial instrument.
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2.6. Financial instruments

Classification

BDIF classifies its financial instruments depending on the business model for financial asset management 
at the time of their acquisition and the characteristics of contractual cash flows. The management 
determines the classification of BDIF financial assets at the time of their initial recognition in the statement 
of financial position.

BDIF classifies its financial assets in three basic categories:

–  ‘financial assets valued at amortised cost’ that include cash and cash equivalents, trade and other 
contractual receivables and others that are used in a business model intended for holding assets for 
the purpose of collecting contractual cash flows representing solely payments on principal and interest 
on the outstanding portion of the principal;

–  ‘financial assets valued at fair value in other comprehensive income (with reclassification in profit 
or loss)’ which encompass the debt securities held by BDIF where contractual cash flows are solely 
settlements of principal and interest on the outstanding portion of the principal and the business model 
of which requires holding the securities for two major purposes: for collection of contractual cash flows 
and for sale, when necessary; and

–  ‘financial assets valued at fair value in the profit or loss’ which include subrogation claims against 
banks.

Financial liabilities arising in connection with attracted funds are classified as ‘financial liabilities reported 
at amortised cost’. The obligations assumed by BDIF to depositors’ guaranteed amounts with banks to 
which the provisions under Art. 20, para 1 of the LBDG apply, arise by law, and for them the discounted 
value is the nominal value.  

Initial recognition

The Fund recognises a financial asset or a financial liability in its statement of financial position solely 
upon becoming a party to the contractual terms and conditions of the financial instrument on ‘the date of 
settlement’. Under this approach, the instrument is recognised on the date when it is transferred to BDIF.

Initial measurement

Upon initial acquisition or origination, financial assets and liabilities are measured at their fair value that is 
equal to the acquisition cost and all directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement

Following the initial recognition BDIF measures:

–  cash and cash equivalents at amortised cost determined under the effective interest rate method;

–  securities at fair value in other comprehensive income (with reclassification in the profit or loss);

–  subrogation claims against banks at fair value in the profit and loss.

BDIF classifies all financial liabilities as valued subsequently at amortised cost, with the exception of 
statutory liabilities on covered deposits and for which the discounted value is the nominal value.

The effects of revaluation of financial assets classified as ‘financial instruments valued at fair value 
through other comprehensive income (with reclassification in the profit or loss)’, are recognised as ‘other 
component of net assets’ in the statement of operations of BDIF and are included in the item ‘comprehensive 



51

Annual Report 2020

result from operations’ for the respective period. In case of a sale and/or write-off of financial assets, the 
accumulated effects are recognised on an ongoing basis in the statement of operations (within the result 
for the year) as ‘investment income’.

Gains and losses on revaluation at fair value

Gains or losses arising from a change in the fair value of a financial asset classified as ‘financial assets 
valued at fair value through other comprehensive income (with reclassification in the profit or loss)’ are 
other components of net assets of the Fund, and are initially reported in the statement of operations in the 
item ‘net change in fair value of financial assets valued at fair value through other comprehensive income’, 
while in case of a sale and/or write-off the accumulated effects are recognised within the current result 
for the year under ‘investment income’.

Gains and losses on revaluation of a financial asset valued at fair value through the profit or loss are 
included on an ongoing basis for the period in which they arise through the statement of operations (within 
the result for the year). 

Impairment – recognition of expected credit losses

BDIF adopted Methodology for Calculation of Expected Credit Losses. The Fund recognises impairment 
in the amount of expected credit losses both for financial assets reported at amortised cost, deposits 
provided to banks included, and for financial assets at fair value in other comprehensive income following 
their initial recognition.

As of each reporting date – 30 June and 31 December – BDIF evaluates whether there is a significant 
increase of credit risk of a financial instrument following initial recognition. In the assessment, the change 
of risk of occurrence of default of the liabilities for the financial instruments (the probability of default 
of the relevant issuer) should be taken into account. To arrive at this evaluation, the Fund compares the 
likelihood of default of liabilities for the financial instrument as of the date of reporting and as of the date 
of initial recognition (previous reporting date) considering all reasonable and supportable information that 
is available without undue cost or effort that is indicative of significant increases in credit risk since initial 
recognition. BDIF assumes that the credit risk of a given financial instrument has not increased significantly 
since initial recognition provided the financial instrument is with low credit risk as of the reporting date. 
If as of the reporting date the credit risk of financial instruments has not increased significantly since 
initial recognition, BDIF calculates a loss allowance equalling expected credit losses for 12 months. 
BDIF assumes that the credit risk of a given financial instrument has increased significantly since initial 
recognition where the credit rating of the respective financial instrument by Moody’s or Standard & Poor’s 
becomes lower than or equal to the credit ratings B- or B3 inclusive, or the default, if any, on contractual 
payments exceeds 30 days. In this event the Fund calculates a loss allowance equalling lifetime expected 
credit losses for the financial instrument.

If the contractual cash flows of a financial asset have been renegotiated or modified and the financial 
asset has not been derecognised, BDIF estimates if a significant increase of credit risk of the financial 
instrument has occurred by comparing:

a) the risk of default occurring as of the reporting date (based on the modified contractual terms and 
conditions); and

b) the risk of default occurring as of the date of initial recognition (based on original non-modified 
contractual terms and conditions).

BDIF recognises in profit or loss, as an impairment gain or loss, the amount of expected credit losses (or 
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reversal) that is required to adjust the loss allowance at the reporting date to the amount that is required 
to be recognised in accordance with IFRS 9.

As at 31 December 2020 the debt securities held by BDIF are government securities of the Republic of 
Bulgaria. In view of the credit rating by Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s of Baa1 and BBB respectively, the 
likelihood of the Republic of Bulgaria defaulting on these liabilities over a year’s period is estimated to be 
zero per cent, therefore zero credit losses in the portfolio of BDIF are expected.

Derecognition

Financial assets or parts thereof are derecognised from the statement of financial position of the Fund 
solely where: 

a) the contractual rights to the cash flows from this financial asset have expired; or

b) BDIF transfers the financial asset and the transfer meets the requirements for derecognition, i.e. all 
risks and rewards from ownership of the financial asset are transferred substantially.

When BDIF has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, 
the Fund establishes if the control of the financial asset is retained. Where the control is not retained, the 
financial asset is derecognised. All rights and obligations arising or retained in the transfer, are recognised 
separately as assets or liabilities. 

BDIF derecognises a financial liability from its statement of financial position solely where the liability is 
settled, i.e. the obligation stipulated in the contract is fulfilled, dropped or the term thereof has expired.

Types of financial instruments

(a) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and in current accounts, special-purpose accounts, 
bank time deposits with original maturity of up to 12 months in Bulgarian levs and in foreign currency. Cash 
on hand and in special-purpose accounts is presented at nominal value. Cash in current accounts and on 
time deposits with the BNB is presented in the statement of financial position at amortised cost determined 
by applying the effective interest rate method, i.e. together with the accrued interest due.

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, accrued interest due on non-matured time deposits and 
on current accounts with the BNB as at 31 December is treated as cash.

(b) Securities reported at fair value in other comprehensive income (with reclassification in the profit 

or loss)

Securities reported at fair value in other comprehensive income are recognised in and derecognised from 
the statement of financial position on the date of settlement when the purchase or sale is performed by 
virtue of a contract providing submission (transfer) of securities within a definite period determined by the 
capital market and the applicable laws regulating transactions in securities. They are initially valued at cost 
of acquisition, comprising their net purchase price and all directly attributable transaction costs. Interest 
accrued by the date of acquisition, for interest-bearing securities, is closed on the value date of the first 
coupon interest payment for the instrument. 

Securities are subsequently measured at fair value. The fair value of securities quoted in active markets is 
determined on the basis of current bid price published quotations in the active market or those of actively 
trading Bulgarian banks. Where the market of particular financial assets is not active or these assets are 
not quoted, BDIF establishes their fair value through other valuation methods. They include: ‘reference 
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prices’ by comparison with the market price of another similar financial instrument in recently realised 
arm’s length transactions; discounted cash flows analysis; and other valuation techniques usually used by 
capital market participants. 

Under the Procedure for Determining Prices for Monthly Revaluation of the Government Securities Portfolio 
of BDIF the Risk Assessment and Analysis Department provides the prices to be used for revaluation of 
BDIF portfolio. Official sources of market prices shall be the quotations received from Bloomberg, Reuters 
or another recognised market prices source.

Where no market quotations in Bloomberg, Reuters or another recognised market prices source are 
available or where it is not possible to obtain any such, one of the following approaches will be used: 
prices of issues of government securities, used for calculating the amount of blocked government 
securities serving as collateral for budget funds in servicing banks, are taken from the BNB; the quoted 
prices, requested from the Treasury Department, of three actively trading banks are taken; or alternative 
revaluation methods are employed, ‘reference prices’ included, if the instrument is not traded actively 
enough in the secondary market.

In connection with the impairment requirements of IFRS 9 BDIF management adopted Methodology 
for Calculation of Expected Credit Losses determining if there is a considerable increase of credit risk 
following initial recognition of the instrument, a horizon for calculation of credit loss, the probability of 
default/liquidation/bankruptcy of the issuer, loss given default and recovery rate and expected credit 
losses. The probability of default of the instrument for the relevant issuer is obtained on the basis of a 
matrix of transitional probabilities from historical data derived from the surveys of Moody’s or Standard & 
Poor’s. On the basis of these surveys the transaction matrix of transitional probabilities over a one-year 
period determines whether there is probability of transitioning from Baa or BBB credit ratings of Moody’s 
or Standard & Poor’s to credit ratings Withdrawn/Defaulted or SD/NR (‘defaulting’). Thus, the cumulative 
probability of default on liabilities on the part of issuers with Moody’s or Standard & Poor’s credit rating 
higher than or equal to Baa or BBB is zero per cent. As at 31 December 2020 BDIF held solely securities 
issued by the Republic of Bulgaria, for which, according to the adopted methodology the probability of the 
Republic of Bulgaria’s defaulting on its liabilities over a one-year period was estimated to be zero per cent, 
on the basis of which credit losses for BDIF portfolio were estimated at zero.

As at each reporting date – 30 June and 31 December – BDIF checks if the credit risk of the financial 
instruments it holds has increased significantly since initial recognition and calculates an allowance 
equalling expected credit losses.

(c) Receivables from counterparties

Upon initial recognition BDIF measures the receivables that do not have a substantial financing component 
(set in accordance with IFRS 15), at their relevant price of the transaction (as prescribed in IFRS 15).

In accordance with IFRS 9, BDIF applies a simplified approach for reporting receivables from counterparties 
arising from transactions within the scope of IFRS 15, calculating a loss allowance equalling expected 
credit losses for the lifecycle of the instrument.

BDIF derecognises receivables from counterparties where the contractual rights to the cash flows have 
expired or the receivables have been transferred in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 9.

(d) Payables to counterparties

Payables to counterparties are presented at the original invoice amount (cost) which is assumed to be 
the fair value of the transaction, which will be paid in the future against the goods and services received.
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(e) Payables on covered deposits to depositors with banks with revoked licenses

Payables to depositors with banks with revoked licenses on guaranteed deposit amounts are presented as 
amounts equalling the statutory payable sum of up to BGN 196,000 per depositor per bank, regardless of 
the number and balances of deposits held by that person, and up to BGN 250,000 for a period of three 
months for the deposits specified under Art. 10 of the LBDG. Deposits acquired as a result of dispositive 
actions within the mandate of a special supervision, when the BNB suspends for a definite period of time 
in full or in part the execution of all or some of the obligations of the bank (Art. 116, para 2, items 2 and 
3 of the LCI) and after the decision of the BNB for revocation of the banking license, shall not be covered 
by the guarantee. Covered amounts include also accrued interest as at the date of the decision of the 
Bulgarian National Bank under Art. 20, para 1 of the LBDG. 

Reimbursable amounts by BDIF are set on the basis of provided information on all types of deposits and 
accounts provided by the conservator, interim trustee, trustee or liquidator of the respective bank. 

The management assumes that these payables represent financial liabilities because the underlying initial 
obligation is resultant from a statutory obligation and their settlement is connected with payment by BDIF.

(f) Claims on covered deposits against banks with revoked licenses (subrogation)

Receivables on deposits for which BDIF has subrogated into the rights of depositors with a bank in 
bankruptcy are recognised in the statement of financial position at the earliest date after the date of 
their legal emergence under the LBDG, assessing if there is a high probability for them to be collected 
by BDIF and if they can be fairly measured. These receivables are valued at present value, based on the 
discounting method of future cash inflows from them for the set time of their collection. For 2020, due to 
the upcoming expiry of the Liquidation Plan at the end of 2021, the future cash inflows are not discounted.

As at the date of each financial statement BDIF management shall carry out a review and a relevant 
adjustment of the estimate of these receivables. 

Receivables on deposits for which BDIF subrogates should be derecognised when the legal grounds for 
this are in place.

2.7. Property and equipment

Property and equipment are presented in the financial statements at historical cost of acquisition less the 
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses in value.

Initial measurement

Upon their initial acquisition, property and equipment are valued at acquisition cost (cost), which comprises 
the purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to working condition for its 
intended use. The directly attributable costs include: the cost of site preparation, initial delivery and handling 
costs, installation costs, professional fees for people involved in the project, non-refundable taxes, etc.

BDIF has determined a value threshold of BGN 700 under which the acquired assets regardless of their 
non-current asset character are written out as a current expense at the moment of their acquisition.

Subsequent measurement

The approach chosen by BDIF for subsequent measurement of property and equipment is the cost model 
under IAS 16, i.e. the acquisition cost (cost) less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses in value.
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Depreciation methods

BDIF applies the straight-line depreciation method for tangible fixed assets. Land is not depreciated. The 
useful life by group of assets has been determined considering: the physical wear, the characteristic 
features of the equipment, the intentions for future use and the expected obsolescence, and is as follows:

  Useful life 
  (years)

Buildings  25

Plant and equipment (computers)  2-4

Motor vehicles  4

Fixtures and fittings  7

Other tangible fixed assets  3

The useful life, set for any tangible fixed asset, is reviewed at each year-end, and in case of any material 
deviation from the future expectations of their period of use, it is adjusted prospectively.

Subsequent expenditure

Repair and maintenance costs are recognised as current expenses as incurred. Subsequent expenses 
incurred in relation to property and equipment having the nature of replacement of certain components, 
significant parts and aggregates or improvements and restructuring, are capitalised in the carrying amount 
of the respective asset whereas the residual useful life is reviewed at the capitalisation date. At the same 
time, the non-depreciated part of the replaced components is derecognised from the carrying amount of 
the assets and is recognised in the current expenses for the period of restructuring.

Impairment of assets

BDIF performs a review for impairment of property and equipment when events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount of the assets might not be recoverable. If there are any indications that 
the estimated recoverable amount of an asset is lower than its carrying value, the latter is adjusted to the 
recoverable amount of the asset. The recoverable amount of assets within the ‘property and equipment’ 
group is the higher of either the fair value less costs to sell or the value in use. In assessing the value in 
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 
that reflects current market conditions and assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 
to the particular asset. Impairment losses are reported in the statement of operations (within the result for 
the year).

Gains and losses on disposal

Tangible fixed assets are derecognised from the statement of financial position when they are permanently 
disposed of and no future economic benefits are expected therefrom or are sold. The gains or losses 
arising from the sale of an item from the ‘property and equipment’ group are determined as the difference 
between the consideration received and the carrying amount of the asset at the date of sale. They are 
stated net under ‘total administrative income/losses, net’ on the face of the statement of operations.
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2.8. Intangible assets

Intangible assets are stated in the financial statements at acquisition cost (cost) less accumulated 
amortisation and any impairment losses in value. They include licenses, software and modifications to 
them, website. For lease contracts where the underlying asset is an intangible one, BDIF does not apply 
IFRS 16. 

BDIF has adopted the straight-line amortisation method for the intangible assets, the useful life being set 
at two years for software products and their upgrades for the term of use of licenses, and seven years for 
the website. The carrying value of the intangible assets is subject to review for impairment when events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value might exceed their recoverable amount. 
Impairment losses are then included in the statement of operations (within the result for the year).

2.9. Leases

BDIF applies IFRS 16 with respect to all lease contracts with the exception of short-term lease contracts 
and lease contracts where the underlying asset is of low value. 

At the commencement date the Fund recognises the right-of-use asset at cost which comprises: 

a)  the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability; 

b)  any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received; 

c)  any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee; and 

d)  an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Fund in restoring the underlying asset to the condition 
required by the terms and conditions of the lease contract.

At the commencement date BDIF measures the lease liability at the present value of the lease payments 
that are not paid at that date. The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the 
lease contract, if that rate can be readily determined. If that rate cannot be readily determined, the Fund 
applies the incremental borrowing rate at which the Fund would borrow funds for the acquisition of a 
similar asset on similar business terms and conditions. At the commencement date, the lease payments 
included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following payments for the right of use not 
paid as at the commencement date: 

a)  fixed payments less any lease incentives receivable; 

b)  variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate that are measured according to the value of 
the index or rate as at the commencement date; 

c)  amounts expected to be payable by the Fund under residual value guarantees; 

d)  the exercise price of a purchase option if the Fund is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and 

e)  payments of penalties for terminating the lease contract, if the lease term reflects the Fund exercising 
an option to terminate the lease. 

Following the commencement date BDIF measures the right-of-use asset at cost less any accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease 
liability. The Fund applies the depreciation requirements under IAS 16 ‘Property, Plant and Equipment’ 
in depreciating a right-of-use asset. If under the lease contract the ownership of the underlying asset 
is transferred to the Fund by the end of the term of this lease contract or if the cost of the right-of-use 
asset reflects that the Fund will exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated from 
the commencement date to the end of its useful life. Otherwise, the Fund depreciates the right-of-use 
asset from the commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or 
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the end of the term of the lease contract. The Fund applies IAS 36 ‘Impairment of Assets’ to determine 
whether the right-of-use asset is impaired and to account for any impairment loss identified.

After the commencement date BDIF measures the lease liability by increasing the carrying amount to 
reflect interest on the lease liability and reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made. 
Interest on the lease liability in each period during the lease term shall be the amount that is produced 
if on the residual balance of the lease liability a constant periodic rate of interest is applied, this rate of 
interest being the discount rate. The Fund recognises in profit or loss the interest on the lease liability and 
variable lease payments not included in the measurement of the lease liability in the period in which the 
event or condition that triggers those payments occurs. The Fund remeasures the lease liability to reflect 
changes to the lease payments by recognising the amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability 
as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset. However, if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is 
reduced to zero and there is a further reduction in the measurement of the lease liability, any remaining 
amount of the remeasurement is recognised in profit or loss. The Fund remeasures the lease liability by 
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate, if either there is a change in the 
term of the lease contract, determining the revised lease payments on the basis of the revised term of the 
lease contract or if there is a change in the assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset, 
whereas the Fund determines the revised lease payments to reflect the change in amounts payable under 
the purchase option. 

BDIF presents in the statement of financial position the right-of-use assets within the same line item as 
that within which the corresponding underlying assets would be presented if they were owned. The Fund 
discloses which line items in the statement of financial position include right-of-use assets and which line 
items include the lease liabilities.

In the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income BDIF presents interest expense on the 
lease liability separately from the depreciation charge for the right-of-use assets. Interest expense on the 
lease liabilities is a component of finance costs. 

In the statement of cash flows, the Fund classifies: 

a)  cash payments for the principal portion of the lease liability within financing activities; 

b)  cash payments for the interest portion of the lease liability applying the requirements in IAS 7 ‘Statement 
of Cash Flows’ for interest paid; and

c)  short-term lease payments, payments for leases of low-value assets and variable lease payments not 
included in the measurement of the lease liability within operating activities.

In connection with the differentiation under IFRS 16 between lease contracts and service contracts 
depending on whether a given asset is controlled during the use, BDIF established lease elements solely 
in a contract for fixed services concluded with A1 for the provision of integrated electronic communication 
service that includes ‘Mtel Business Voice’ service, access to internet and ‘Data VPN’ service. The ‘Data 
VPN’ service – Virtual Private Network based on Ethernet protocol – represents interlinking of all entry 
points at the subscriber’s via permanent connection between these points in the Operator’s network and 
it qualifies as exemption for low-value contracts under IFRS 16. The contract was reported as service and 
had no effect concerning assets, liabilities, expenditures and classification of cash flows.

2.10. Pensions and other payables to the personnel under the social security and labour legislation

Employment and social security relations with the employees of the Bulgarian Deposit Insurance Fund are 
based on the provisions of the Labour Code and the effective social security legislation in Bulgaria. 

A major duty of BDIF in its capacity as employer is to make the mandatory social security contributions for 
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the hired employees to the Pensions Fund, the Supplementary Mandatory Pension Security, the General 
Diseases and Maternity Fund, the Unemployment Fund, the Labour Accident and Occupational Diseases 
Fund, and to health insurance. The rates of the social security and health insurance contributions are 
defined under the Law on the Budget of the State Social Security and the Law on the Budget of the 
National Health Insurance Fund for the respective year. Contributions are split between the employer and 
the employee in line with the Social Security Code. 

The social security and pension plans, applied by BDIF in its capacity as employer, are based on the 
Bulgarian legislation and are defined contribution plans. Under these plans, the employer pays defined 
monthly contributions to the government funds, i.e. the Pensions Fund, the General Diseases and Maternity 
Fund, the Unemployment Fund, the Labour Accident and Occupational Diseases Fund, as well as to 
universal and professional pension funds – on the basis of rates fixed by law, and has no legal obligation 
to pay any additional amounts to these funds in the cases where the latter do not hold sufficient funds 
to repay to the respective employees the benefits they have worked out over the period of their service. 
Obligations referring to health insurance are analogous. 

There is no established and functioning private voluntary social security scheme at BDIF.

Short-term benefits

Short-term employee benefits in the form of remuneration, bonuses and benefits (payable within 12 months 
after the end of the period when the employees have rendered the service or have met the required terms 
and conditions) are recognised as an expense in the statement of operations (within the result for the year) 
in the period when the service thereon has been rendered or the requirements for their receipt have been 
met and as an ongoing liability (less any amounts already paid and deductions due) at their undiscounted 
amount. BDIF payables for social security and health insurance are recognised as a current expense and 
liability at their undiscounted amount together with the corresponding benefits and within the period of 
their accrual.

At each financial statements date BDIF measures and recognises the expected costs on the accumulating 
compensated absences, i.e. the amount expected to be paid as a result of the unused entitlement. The 
measurement includes the estimated expenses on the employee’s remuneration and the statutory social 
security and health insurance contributions due by the employer thereon.

Long-term retirement benefits

In accordance with  Art. 222, paras 2 and 3 of the Labour Code, the employer is obliged to pay to its 
employee upon termination of the labour contract due to disability or after the employee has acquired 
the right to a retirement for length of service and age an indemnity which, depending on the length of 
service with BDIF, may vary between two and six gross monthly salaries as at the termination date of the 
employment. Under IAS 19 these payments are classified as defined benefits. 

As at each financial statements date BDIF uses the services of certified actuaries who calculate the 
present value of these liabilities following actuarial methodology consistent with the requirements of IAS 
19. In calculating the present value of the defined benefit obligations and the related current service cost 
the requirements of paragraphs 67-69 of IAS 19 are observed for employing the Projected Unit Credit 
Method which sees each period of service as giving rise to an additional unit of benefit entitlement and 
measures each unit separately to build up the final obligation. The present value of the defined benefit 
obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash flows, which are expected to be paid 
within the maturity of this obligation, using effective annual interest rate based on the yield of the issues of 
long-term government securities (with 10-year maturity) in accordance with the prescriptions of paragraph 
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83 of IAS 19. 

Actuarial gains and losses arise from changes in the actuarial assumptions and differences between the 
actuarial assumptions and actual experience. BDIF recognises the components of defined benefits costs 
as follows: 

–   expenses for length of service and the interest from unwinding of the present value, in ‘expenses on 
personnel’ in the statement of operations (within the result for the year); and 

–   the changes in the amount of liabilities of BDIF to the personnel (the revaluations on the defined 
benefits scheme) in the other comprehensive income.

Termination benefits

In accordance with the provisions of the Labour Code, BDIF in its capacity as employer is obliged, upon 
termination of the employment contracts prior to retirement, to pay certain types of indemnities.

BDIF recognises employee benefit obligations on employment termination before the standard retirement 
age when it is demonstrably committed, based on an announced plan, to terminating the employment 
contract with the respective individuals without possibility of withdrawal or in case of formal issuance of 
documents for voluntary redundancy. Termination benefits due more than 12 months are discounted and 
presented in the statement of financial position at their present value. 

2.11. Income taxes

Under the Law on Bank Deposit Guarantee and the Law on the Recovery and Resolution of Credit 
Institutions and Investment Firms BDIF is exempt from state and local taxes and fees as well as from 
charges on transactions for deposit guarantee and for financing of resolution of credit institutions.

2.12. Critical accounting judgements on applying the accounting policies of BDIF. Key estimates 

and assumptions of high uncertainty

Measurement of financial instruments reported at fair value in other comprehensive income 

BDIF management classifies the government securities held by BDIF on the basis of the adopted business 
model for their management and the characteristics of the contractual cash flows as financial instruments 
reported at fair value in other comprehensive income. The government securities are acquired for obtaining 
additional income from cash accumulated on the basis of member banks’ contributions and for maintaining 
required high liquidity for payout of covered deposits with a bank or for financing of resolution of credit 
institutions. Both the collection of contractual cash flows and the sales of government securities are key 
factors for the achievement of the objective of the model.

Under the Procedure for Determining Prices for Monthly Revaluation of the Government Securities Portfolio 
of BDIF the Risk Assessment and Analysis Department provides the prices to be used for revaluation of 
BDIF portfolio. The changes in the prices of debt securities held by BDIF are treated as temporary and 
presented in the changes of ‘other components of net assets’ of BDIF.

In connection with the requirements of IFRS 9 for recognition of expected credit losses, BDIF management 
adopted Methodology for Calculation of Expected Credit Losses. As at reporting dates – 30 June and 
31 December – the Risk Assessment and Analysis Department evaluates whether there is a significant 
increase of credit risk of each financial instrument held by the Fund following initial recognition, taking 
into account the change of risk of occurrence of default of the liabilities for the financial instrument. The 
Fund calculates a loss allowance for 12 months or for the entire lifecycle of the instrument, depending on 
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whether the credit risk of the relevant financial instrument has increased significantly. Expected credit loss 
is the present value in time of the difference between contractual cash flows due and the cash flows the 
Fund expects to receive. BDIF recognises in profit or loss, as an impairment gain or loss, the amount of 
expected credit losses (or reversal), that is required to adjust the loss allowance at the reporting date to 
the amount that is required to be recognised in accordance with IFRS 9.

Subrogation claims against banks 

As at the date of compiling the financial statements BDIF management reviewed and made adjustments of 
the estimated claim on KTB (in bankruptcy). Upon revocation of the license of KTB, BDIF has subrogated 
into the rights of the deposit holders of covered deposits, which are recognised in the statement of 
financial position based on reasonable and fairly presented assumptions of their recoverable value as at 
the date of the financial statements.

The estimates are prepared on the basis of the liquidation balance sheet of KTB (in bankruptcy) as at 31 
December 2020, the Liquidation Plan, the first, second and third partial distribution accounts, as well as 
additional information provided by the trustee of KTB (in bankruptcy) at the request of BDIF.

The total amount of assets in the unaudited liquidation balance sheet of KTB (in bankruptcy) as at 31 
December 2020 is BGN 703,360 thousand, including BGN 29,626 thousand in assets intended for secured 
creditors (2019: BGN 989,212 thousand, of which BGN 66,101 thousand in assets intended for secured 
creditors).

Based on BDIF analysis, the expected value of available assets of KTB (in bankruptcy), excluding pledged 
assets, which may be used to satisfy the remaining creditors, was reduced to BGN 337,281 thousand 
(2019: BGN 588,722 thousand).

The decline in assets compared to 2019 results from the amounts paid out in 2020 to the creditors of 
KTB (in bankruptcy) from the first, second and third partial distribution accounts totalling BGN 426,428 
thousand (2019: BGN 499,422 thousand from the first partial distribution account).

Under Art. 94, para 1 of the Law on Bank Bankruptcy (version applicable to the bankruptcy proceedings 
of KTB (in bankruptcy)), upon distribution of liquidated property, claims are paid as follows: first, claims 
secured by a pledge or mortgage – out of the proceeds of the sale of the collateral; second, claims on 
which the right of distraint is exercised – out of the value of the property under distraint; third, bankruptcy 
expenses; fourth, claims for which BDIF has subrogated and claims of depositors that are not covered by 
the deposit guarantee; followed thereafter by the rest of the bank’s creditors.

The total amount of claims of creditors of KTB (in bankruptcy) under Art. 94, para 1, item 1 of the LBB 
amounted to BGN 29,626 thousand, including BGN 3,668 thousand as amount of cash intended for 
secured creditors. The amount of claims for which BDIF had subrogated to as of the date of the second 
partial distribution account (in August 2020) was BGN 3,702,423 thousand (as of the date of the first 
partial distribution account in April 2017: BGN 3,701,299 thousand). The total amount of claims of creditors 
of KTB (in bankruptcy) ranking fourth as of the same date came to BGN 4,876,645 thousand (in April 
2017: BGN 4,931,640 thousand). Depositor claims not covered by the deposit guarantee scheme but of the 
same rank of creditors as BDIF were BGN 1,174,222 thousand (in April 2017: BGN 1,230,341 thousand). 
The rest are claims of lower-tier creditors.

The percentage ratio of the BDIF subrogated claims as of the date of the second partial distribution 
account, according to the list of accepted claims under Art. 64 of the Law on Bank Bankruptcy, to the total 
amount of claims of same-tier creditors was 75.92 per cent (as of the date of the first partial distribution 
account: 75.02 per cent). This ratio represents the share which BDIF is entitled to obtain upon liquidation 
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of the assets of KTB (in bankruptcy).

As at 31 December 2020 proceeds from subrogation claims in the amount of BGN 739,076 thousand 
were received at BDIF. In 2020 BGN 320,850 thousand from the first and the second partial distribution 
accounts were paid (2019: BGN 418,226 thousand from the first partial distribution account). The third 
partial distribution account, approved in August 2020, was intended for a creditor with accepted claims 
subject to the creditor ranking pursuant to Art. 94, para 1, item 1 of the LBB; the funds therefrom were paid 
out in 2020. As at the date of the present financial statements, the fourth partial distribution account was 
published in the Commercial Register and Register of Non-Profit Legal Entities. The management of the 
Fund expects the proceeds from it, amounting to BGN 189,119 thousand to be received at BDIF in 2021.

The amount of the claim which BDIF records in its balance sheet as at 31 December 2020 is the gross value 
of future cash flows (funds received from sales of assets less bankruptcy expenses) for the remaining 
one year of the five-year Liquidation Plan for the Assets in the Bankruptcy Estate of KTB (in bankruptcy) 
approved by BDIF Management Board. The amount of the claim which BDIF records in its balance sheet 
as at 31 December 2019 is the present value estimated by the method of discounting net future cash 
flows (funds received from sales of assets less bankruptcy expenses) for the remaining two years until 
the expiry of the five-year Liquidation Plan for the Assets in the Bankruptcy Estate of KTB (in bankruptcy) 
approved by the Management Board of BDIF. For 2019 the future cash flows by year were discounted 
using an interest rate equalling the average value of interest rates on the exposures of the credit portfolio 
of KTB (in bankruptcy), weighted with the net value of debt in the credit portfolio as at 31 December 2019. 
The effect from discounting future cash flows amounted to BGN 49,842 thousand.

Based on this analysis and given the above assumptions and methodology, as at 31 December 2020 BDIF 
claims on KTB (in bankruptcy) were estimated by BDIF management at BGN 248,097 thousand. In the 
previous periods 2014-2019, the claim against KTB (in bankruptcy) in the statement of financial position 
of the Fund is presented at its net present value (31.12.2019: BGN 375,494 thousand; 31.12.2018: BGN 
720,584 thousand; 31.12.2017: BGN 695,003 thousand; 31.12.2016: BGN 701,590 thousand; 31.12.2015: 
BGN 814,054 thousand; 31.12.2014: BGN 855,545 thousand).

This estimate is based on information available to BDIF as of the date of the financial statements for 2020. 
As of each financial statements date, BDIF management reviews and makes adjustments to this estimated 
claim accordingly.

Contingent liabilities and provisions for litigations

As at 31 December 2020 22 litigations were pending against BDIF, claims totalling BGN 8,126 thousand 
(2019: 24 litigations, claims totalling BGN 2,361 thousand). Provisions for guaranteed deposits are set 
aside amounting to BGN 403 thousand (2019: BGN 1,544 thousand).

Upon final judgement of the court on adjudicated amounts of deposits to be reimbursed by BDIF, the 
provisions of Art. 71, para 2 of the LBB will apply, and the amounts of the liabilities BDIF paid as per the 
court judgement will be added to the claims of BDIF on KTB (in bankruptcy). In 2020 this amount was  
BGN 992 thousand (2019: BGN 1,524 thousand).

As at 31 December 2020 recognised liabilities that BDIF might be court-ordered to pay in litigation costs, 
reported in the administrative expenses, totalled BGN 215 thousand (2019: BGN 289 thousand).
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 Covered  Litigation
 deposits  expenses 
 (BGN’000) (BGN’000)

Liabilities on 31.12.2019 1,544 415

Accrued provisions in 2020 57 215

Reversed provisions in 2020 (206) (129)

Net change (149) 86

Expended provisions in 2020 (992) (136)

Liabilities on 31.12.2020 403 365

2.13. Attracted funds

Loans disbursed to BDIF are recognised initially at their fair value. They are subsequently recognised at 
amortised cost, and all differences between issue proceeds and redemption value are recognised in the 
income statement for the relevant period using the effective interest rate method.
 
2.14. Repo transactions

Securities which serve as collateral for repo transactions continued to be recorded in the financial 
statements as available-for-sale securities, while liabilities to the counterparties are recognised as amounts 
due to banks. BDIF engaged in no repo transactions in 2020.

3. PREMIUM CONTRIBUTIONS

In 2020 BDIF reported premium contributions from 20 banks in the amount of BGN 161,685 thousand 
(2019: from 21 banks, BGN 164,075 thousand). The contributions are calculated under Ordinance No. 30 
on Calculation of the Amount and Collection of the Premium Contributions Due by Banks under the Law 
on Bank Deposit Guarantee, namely based on the amount of covered deposits with each bank for the 
previous year calculated as an average amount of covered deposits as at the end of each quarter and the 
level of risk incurred by the respective bank. The risk profile of individual banks, the individual premium 
contribution due respectively, is determined based on objective and measurable quantitative criteria under 
Ordinance No. 30.
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4. INVESTMENT INCOME 

 2020 2019 

 (BGN’000) (BGN’000)

Interest income/expense from government securities, net 56 206

Net gains/(losses) from sale/maturity of government securities (46) –

Interest expense on deposit and current accounts (5,995) (2,876)

 (5,985) (2,670)

Net change in fair value of financial assets reported  
at fair value in other comprehensive income:  

Losses from revaluation during the year  (173) (181)

Less: adjustment from reclassification of gains/(losses)    

included in the current year result 136 –

 (37) (181)

5. EARNINGS/EXPENSES ON COVERED DEPOSITS WITH A BANK WITH REVOKED LICENSE

In 2014 the license of Corporate Commercial Bank was revoked, generating liabilities to BDIF on covered 
deposits in the amount of BGN 3,702,156 thousand. In 2015 liabilities increased by BGN 1,189 thousand. 
In 2016 the liabilities rose by yet another BGN 70 thousand and by BGN 184 thousand more in 2017. In 
2018 the liabilities decreased by BGN 18 thousand (BGN 80 thousand reported revenues from subrogation 
in 2018 less BGN 62 thousand in covered deposits paid out in 2018 for which provisions were set aside in 
2017). In 2019 the liabilities increased by BGN 1,196 thousand (BGN 1,524 thousand in covered deposits 
paid out in 2019 included in the amount of the claims for which provisions were set aside in 2017 and 2018, 
less BGN 328 thousand reported income from subrogation). In 2020 the liabilities decreased with BGN 
7,840 thousand (BGN 992 thousand in covered deposits paid out in 2020 on lawsuits for which provisions 
were made in 2018 and 2019, less BGN 8,832 thousand reported as income from subrogation), and as 
at 31 December 2020 the maximum aggregate amount of liabilities covered by the guarantee under the 
LBDG was BGN 3,705,631 thousand.

The amount is inclusive of: the sums eligible for payout, the sums for additional payout, provided the 
grounds for imposed freezes and attachments are cancelled following the completion of the process of 
individualisation of entitled persons with respect to special-purpose accounts, contingent amounts in case 
BDIF becomes liable, with a court ruling that has entered into force, to pay the amount in full or in part – 
for the portion which BDIF was court-ordered to pay as well as adjudicated amounts with respect to which 
Art. 71, para 2 of the LBB is applicable. Amounts paid out in 2020 were BGN 992 thousand (2019: BGN 
3,030 thousand; 2018: BGN 2,521 thousand; 2017: BGN 3,143 thousand; 2016: BGN 13,712 thousand; 
2015: BGN 469,920 thousand; and 2014: BGN 3,196,457 thousand). The total amount paid out from the 
initial payout day until 31 December 2020 was BGN 3,689,775 thousand (including adjudicated amounts 
paid following litigations).

For the litigations where the likelihood of a court’s ruling against BDIF exceeded 50 per cent and where 
the claimed reimbursable sums were not included in the amounts claimed by BDIF, the Fund recognised in 
the financial statements as at 31 December 2020 BGN 403 thousand in liabilities to depositors with banks 
with revoked licenses (2019: BGN 1,544 thousand).
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 2020 2019 

 (BGN’000) (BGN’000)

Earnings/expenses on covered deposits    
with a bank with revoked license, incl.  

Decrease of the liability on covered deposits 8,764 328

Liabilities on litigations (57) (761)

Reversed provisions 206 33

Income from out-of-court settlements 87 41

Income from litigations resolved in favour of BDIF 63 –

Interest related to litigations 4 (64)

Change in the fair value of the claims on KTB  

(in bankruptcy) 193,453 73,137

 202,520 72,714

BDIF management expects part of the subrogation expenses to be recovered from liquidation of assets 
from the bankruptcy estate as a result of the distribution of the collected cash determined on the basis 
of KTB (in bankruptcy) creditors’ rights. BDIF will receive an amount representing a proportionate share of 
its right to subrogation.

6. INTEREST ON ATTRACTED FUNDS

 2020 2019 

 (BGN’000) (BGN’000)

Interest on attracted funds, incl.  

Interest on loan from Republic of Bulgaria – (14,571)

Interest and fees on loan from IBRD (9,273) (9,248)

Interest and fees on loan from EBRD (9,430) (9,398)

 (18,703) (33,217)

7. GENERAL ADMINISTRATIVE EARNINGS/EXPENSES

The administrative expenses of both funds (BDIF and BRF) are covered with annual fees paid by each 
bank and bank branch under Art. 1, paras 2 and 3 of the LBDG, members of the deposit guarantee system 
in the Republic of Bulgaria, under Ordinance No. 29 on Establishing the Procedure for Financing the 
Administrative Expenses of the Bulgarian Deposit Insurance Fund.

The total amount of fees paid by banks in 2020 was BGN 3,296 thousand (2019: BGN 3,092 thousand), 
representing 0.0056 per cent of the average amount of covered deposits with banks as at 31 December 
2018, 31 March, 30 June and 30 September 2019. Revenues from fees for financing are recognised up to 
the amount of administrative expenses reported for 2020. Budget funds are held at the BNB.
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In 2020, from 1 January up until 26 July 2020, the date on which Decision (EU) 2020/1015 of the European 
Central Bank of 24 June 2020 on the establishment of close cooperation between the European Central 
Bank and the Bulgarian National Bank (ECB/2020/30) became effective, administrative expenses were 
reported as direct operating costs of BDIF, direct operating costs of BRF, and general/indirect expenses. 
The basis for allocation of all types of indirect administrative costs is the same. The allocation of indirect 
administrative costs for each financial year is according to two criteria with relative weight, determined 
along with the approval of the annual budget for administrative expenses. The criteria are: the ratio (in 
percentage terms) of managed financial assets (excluding subrogation claims against banks) of BDIF and 
BRF to the total amount of assets for both funds as at 31 December of the preceding year and the ratio 
(in percentage terms) of manhours of the members of the MB and all employees of BDIF, by fund, to the 
total manhours of the said persons for the previous year. After 26 July 2020 all administrative expenses 
are related to the operation of BDIF.

In 2020 the total administrative expenses were BGN 2,677 thousand, of which BGN 2,563 thousand related 
to the operations of BDIF (2019: BGN 2,537 thousand) and BGN 114 thousand – to the operations of BRF 
(2019: BGN 219 thousand).

 2020 2019 

 (BGN’000) (BGN’000)

Income from financing of administrative expenses 2,677 2,756

Administrative expenses  

Salaries and social security contributions for personnel (1,409) (1,275)

Remuneration and social security contributions under  
management contracts (555) (613)

Remuneration for temporarily hired personnel (1) (2)

Office maintenance (81) (95)

Subscription to media, information agencies and networks (112) (183)

Depreciation (111) (137)

Business trips (5) (19)

Hospitality expenses (1) (1)

Telecommunication and postal services (6) (7)

Training and qualification (2) (3)

Sundry, net (394) (421)

Total administrative expenses (2,677) (2,756)

Salaries and social security contributions of the personnel accounted for BGN 1,409 thousand (2019: 
BGN 1,275 thousand) and included staff remuneration and social security contributions under employment 
contracts in the amount of BGN 1,269 thousand (2019: BGN 1,138 thousand) and benefits of BGN 140 
thousand (2019: BGN 137 thousand).

Remunerations under management contracts include the remunerations and related social security 
payments and benefits for the members of BDIF Management Board.
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Expenses for office maintenance include mainly energy costs (electric energy and heating), security 
services, renovations, water, stationery and sanitary and hygienic materials, insurance, local taxes and 
fees, etc. 

Expenses for subscription to media, information agencies and networks include mainly subscriptions 
for database access to one of the major information agencies – Bloomberg, subscription for portfolio 
management and accounting software, computer networks and internet, etc. 

Other expenses include legal services and fees related to litigations as well as provisions for expenses for 
litigations in connection with KTB (in bankruptcy). Other costs also include expenses for auditing services, 
annual membership fees for the European Forum of Deposit Insurers and the International Association of 
Deposit Insurers, bank charges and other charges paid.

8. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

 2020 2019 

 (BGN’000) (BGN’000)

Cash on hand 2 3

Current accounts in BGN 948,159 543,141

Current accounts in foreign currency 132,623 154,937

 1,080,784 698,081

As at 31 December 2020 the existing cash was in current accounts with the Bulgarian National Bank. In the 
statement of financial position cash is reported at amortised cost determined as per the effective interest 
rate method, i.e. together with interest accrued. The fair value of cash and cash equivalents equals their 
carrying amount. 

Interest rates on current and deposit accounts were as follows:

 2020 2019 

Interest rates on current and deposit accounts   
in original currency 

BGN -0.70% from -0.70% to -0.19%

EUR -0.70% from -0.70% to -0.23%

USD from 0.75% to 1.25% from 1.20% to 1.38%
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9. SECURITIES REPORTED AT FAIR VALUE IN OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

A) Classification of securities based on original maturity

31 December Nominal Fair Interest  Effective Maturity   
2020 value value  rate  interest   
   (coupon) rate  
 (BGN’000) (BGN’000) % % 

Medium-term 
interest-bearing  
government securities   16,691 16,701 0.01 – 0.3 -0.15 – 0.17 2021-2025

Long-term   
interest-bearing  
government securities  64,903 69,135 1.88 – 5.75 -0.37 – 2.51 2021-2025

 81,594 85,836   

31 December Nominal Fair Interest  Effective Maturity   
2019 value value  rate  interest   
   (coupon) rate  
 (BGN’000) (BGN’000) % % 

Medium-term  
interest-bearing  
government securities   5,392 5,423 0.3 0.17 2021

Long-term  
interest-bearing  
government securities   4,761 4,983  3.00 2.50 – 2.51 2021

 10,153 10,406   



68

Annual Report 2020

B) Classification of securities based on residual maturity

31 December Nominal Fair Interest  Effective Maturity   
2020 value value  rate  interest   
   (coupon) rate  
 (BGN’000) (BGN’000) % % 

Short-term   
interest-bearing   
government securities  10,152 10,241 0.3 – 3.00 0.16 – 2.51 2021

Medium-term  
interest-bearing   
government securities  71,442 75,595 0.01 – 5.75 -0.37 – 0.34 2022-2025

 81,594 85,836   

31 December Nominal Fair Interest  Effective Maturity   
2019 value value  rate  interest   
   (coupon) rate  
 (BGN’000) (BGN’000) % % 

Short-term   
interest-bearing   
government securities  – – – – –

Medium-term  
interest-bearing   
government securities   10,153 10,406 0.3 – 3.00 0.17 – 2.51 2021

 10,153 10,406   

As at 31 December 2020 BDIF had opened securities registers with the following primary dealers – sub-
depositories of securities: Citibank Europe PLC, Bulgaria Branch, DSK Bank AD, Raiffeisenbank (Bulgaria) 
EAD, UniCredit Bulbank AD and United Bulgarian Bank AD. 

As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 BDIF had open exposures only to Bulgarian sovereign 
debt (Bulgarian government bonds).
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10. SUBROGATION CLAIMS AGAINST BANKS

As at the date of preparation of the statement of financial position BDIF estimated the subrogation claim 
upon liquidation of the bankruptcy estate of KTB (in bankruptcy) at BGN 248,097 thousand (31.12.2019: BGN 
375,494 thousand; 31.12.2018: BGN 720,584 thousand; 31.12.2017: BGN 695,003 thousand; 31.12.2016: 
701,590 thousand; 31.12.2015: BGN 814,054 thousand; 31.12.2014: BGN 855,545 thousand).

The tables below present future cash flows by type of asset and year.

  

31.12.2020  2020 
  (BGN’000)

Cash    208,945

Claims against banks  1,296

Financial assets    8,018

Tangible fixed assets,   
intangible and other assets     2,671

Loans and receivables  27,168

Total  248,097

31.12.2019*  2020 2021 Total 
  (BGN’000) (BGN’000) (BGN’000)

Cash    280,066 – 280,066

Claims against banks  5,727 3,152 8,879

Financial assets    1,365 3,638 5,003

Tangible fixed assets,   
intangible and other assets   10,739 5,910 16,649

Loans and receivables  21,817 43,080 64,897

Total  319,714 55,780 375,494

* The future cash flows by type of asset and year for 2019 have  been discounted, whereas those for 2020 have not been discounted,  
 reflecting the expectation that they will be received within a period of one year.
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The following approaches were employed in determining the expected value of available assets of KTB 
(in bankruptcy) excluding pledged assets, which may be used to satisfy the remaining creditors, by type 
of asset:

– Cash – for the evaluation, these assets were taken at nominal value;

– Claims against banks – the assets in this group were measured at their value in accordance with their 
potential for actual recovery of the claims, this value being lower than the value of the measurement 
as at the date of preparation of the initial liquidation balance sheet reduced pursuant to the provisions 
of Art. 82, para 3 of the LBB, and an additional discount for pending litigations abroad or likelihood that 
the funds may not be received in 2021;

– Financial assets – all assets in this category were valued in accordance with their potential for actual 
liquidation. They are valued at market price as at the date of the financial statements or after this date, 
in case their price has decreased, or at the price realised upon sales of assets after the date of the 
financial statements;

– Tangible fixed assets, intangible and other assets – they are valued in accordance with their liquidation 
potential. Their value reflects the expectations for actual recovery of funds which is lower than the 
value of the measurement as at the date of preparation of the initial liquidation balance sheet reduced 
pursuant to the provisions of Art. 82, para 3 of the LBB; and

– Loans and receivables – the loans were valued in accordance with their potential for actual monetisation, 
taking into account existing collateral of credit exposures and the execution of the Liquidation Plan in 
2021. The value of loans and receivables is lower than the value of the measurement as at the date of 
preparation of the initial liquidation balance sheet reduced pursuant to the provisions of Art. 82, para 3 
of the LBB.

Detailed information on this estimate is available in Note 2.12.
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11. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

 
 Land and  Office  Motor  Total 
 buildings equipment   vehicles 
  and  
  furniture   
 (BGN’000) (BGN’000) (BGN’000) (BGN’000)

Book value   

as at 1 January 2019 1,005 452 56 1,513

Additions – 21 – 21

Disposals –  (6) – (6)

Book value   

as at 31 December 2019 1,005 467 56 1,528

Additions – 31 – 31

Disposals  –  (14) – (14)

Book value   

as at 31 December 2020 1,005 484 56 1,545

Accumulated depreciation   

as at 1 January 2019 471 395 2 868

Depreciation charge for the year   34 46 14 94

Depreciation on disposed assets –  (6) – (6)

Accumulated depreciation   

as at 31 December 2019 505 435 16 956

Depreciation charge for the year   33 26 14 73

Depreciation on disposed assets – (14) – (14)

Accumulated depreciation   

as at 31 December 2020 538 447 30 1,015

Carrying amount   

as at 31 December 2019 500 32 40 572

Carrying amount   

as at 31 December 2020 467 37 26 530

As at 31 December 2020 BDIF owned land at the amount of BGN 163 thousand (31 December 2019:  
BGN 163 thousand) and a building at a carrying amount of BGN 304 thousand (31 December 2019:  
BGN 337 thousand), the aggregate amount of both items being BGN 467 thousand. 

As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 there were no established encumbrances (mortgages, 
pledges) on property and equipment of BDIF.
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12. INTANGIBLE AND OTHER ASSETS

A) Intangible assets

  Software 

  (BGN’000)

Book value as at 1 January 2019  311

Additions   70

Disposals  (7)

Book value as at 31 December 2019  374

Additions   36

Book value as at 31 December 2020  410

  
Accumulated amortisation as at 1 January 2019  249

Amortisation charge for the year   43

Amortisation on disposed assets  (7)

Accumulated amortisation as at 31 December 2019  285

Amortisation charge for the year   38

Accumulated amortisation as at 31 December 2020  323

  
Carrying amount as at 31 December 2019  89

  
Carrying amount as at 31 December 2020  87

B) Other assets

Other assets include:
 31.12.2020 31.12.2019 

 (BGN’000) (BGN’000)

Deposits on litigations with  
the Supreme Court of Cassation – 46

Prepaid expenses – 2

Deferred expenses 21 20

Other receivables 8 4

 29 72 
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13. ATTRACTED FUNDS

 31.12.2020 31.12.2019 

 (BGN’000) (BGN’000)

Loan from IBRD 586,946 586,874

Loan from EBRD 585,726 585,268

 1,172,672 1,172,142

The liabilities towards IBRD and EBRD are on government guaranteed loans in the amount of EUR 300,000 
thousand each. 

As at 31 December 2020 the outstanding debt to IBRD was BGN 586,946 thousand, representing principal 
in the amount of EUR 300,000 thousand and interest accrued as per the effective interest rate method. 
The interest rate on the first tranche of the loan from the World Bank in the amount of EUR 250,000 
thousand was fixed on 3 January 2017, effective from the date of the following interest payment. For the 
entire period between 15 June 2017 and 15 June 2026 the interest rate on the tranche in the amount 
of EUR 250,000 thousand is 1.55 per cent. For the interest rate period from 15 December 2016 to  
14 June 2017 the interest rate was 0.63 per cent (set as per the terms and conditions of the agreement as  
6M EURIBOR + 85 b.p. as of the date of setting).

On 12 July 2017 the second tranche of the loan in the amount of EUR 30,000 thousand was utilised with 
an interest rate of 0.58 per cent set as per the terms and conditions of the agreement as 6M EURIBOR + 

85 b.p. as of the date of setting. The interest rate on the tranche in the amount of EUR 30,000 thousand 
was fixed on 19 July 2017 at 1.65 per cent, effective from 21 July 2017 to 15 June 2026. 

On 23 March 2018 the third tranche of the loan in the amount of EUR 20,000 thousand was utilised with 
an interest rate of 0.58 per cent set as per the terms and conditions of the agreement as 6M EURIBOR + 

85 b.p. as of the date of setting. The interest rate on the tranche in the amount of EUR 20,000 thousand 
was fixed on 27 March 2018 at 1.67 per cent, effective from 29 March 2018 to 15 June 2026. 

As at 31 December 2020 the liabilities to EBRD were in the amount of BGN 585,726 thousand, of which 
EUR 300,000 thousand in principal and interest accrued as per the effective interest rate method. The 
interest rate of the loan from EBRD was fixed on 22 December 2016, effective from the date of the 
following interest payment. For the interest rate period 19 December 2016 – 18 June 2017 the interest rate 
was 1 per cent (set as per the terms and conditions of the agreement as 6M EURIBOR + 100 b.p. as of 
the date of setting, but not less than 1 per cent). For the entire period from 19 June 2017 to 17 June 2025 
the interest rate on the loan has been fixed at 1.525 per cent.

On both agreements BDIF has been fulfilling the contractual clauses.
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14. LIABILITIES ON COVERED DEPOSITS

 31.12.2020 31.12.2019 

 (BGN’000) (BGN’000)

Liabilities on covered deposits 7,230 15,994

Provisions for litigations  403 1,544

 7,633 17,538

The liabilities on covered deposits comprise: 

–  On 4 December 2019 the five-year term for depositors with KTB (in bankruptcy) to claim sums eligible 
for payout on covered deposits from the servicing banks expired. The sums on covered deposits 
reimbursed by servicing banks totalled BGN 3,687,173 thousand. The amount of covered deposits 
referred for reimbursement to servicing banks but non-claimed within the prescriptive period set by the 
law was BGN 8,764 thousand. As at 31 December 2020, in view of the practice in the decisions of 
the Management Board of the Fund to terminate payout of covered deposits with KTB (in bankruptcy) 
after 4 December 2019, by force of a resolution of the BDIF Management Board, the liabilities in the 
amount of BGN 8,764 thousand, representing covered deposits with KTB (in bankruptcy) referred for 
reimbursement to servicing banks but non-claimed by holders within the prescriptive 5-year period, 
were derecognised. The reimbursed sums on covered deposits which the Fund was court-ordered to 
pay totalled BGN 2,602 thousand (2019: BGN 1,610 thousand). Liabilities on covered deposits as at  
31 December 2020 were BGN 7,230 thousand, inclusive of the sums for additional payout, provided the 
grounds for imposed freezes and attachments are cancelled following the completion of the process 
of individualisation of entitled persons with respect to special-purpose accounts, contingent amounts 
in case BDIF becomes liable, with a court ruling that has entered into force, to pay the amount in full 
or in part – for the portion which BDIF was court-ordered to pay as well as adjudicated amounts with 
respect to which Art. 71, para 2 of the LBB is applicable.

–  Provisions for guarantees on litigations in the amount of BGN 403 thousand (31 December 2019:  
1,544 thousand). 

15. FINANCING OF ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

The funds for financing the administrative expenses as at 31 December 2020 amounted to BGN 2,099 
thousand (2019: BGN 1,546 thousand) representing the sum total of non-spent proceeds of fees collected 
under Ordinance No. 29 on Establishing the Procedure for Financing the Administrative Expenses of the 
Bulgarian Deposit Insurance Fund in the amount of BGN 1,962 thousand (for the period 2016-2020) and 
fees from banks for 2021 prepaid in 2020 totalling BGN 137 thousand.
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16. OTHER LIABILITIES

 31.12.2020 31.12.2019 

 (BGN’000) (BGN’000)

Payables to the budget 22 18

Payables to personnel 173 132

Liabilities for provisions for litigation expenses  365 415

Payables to suppliers 32 29

 592 594

Payables to personnel represent ongoing obligations on unused paid annual leave of BDIF employees 
at the amount of BGN 97 thousand (31 December 2019: BGN 72 thousand) and long-term payables 
for indemnities on retirement amounting to BGN 76 thousand (31 December 2019: BGN 60 thousand). 
Liabilities for allocated provisions for litigation expenses amount to BGN 365 thousand (31 December 
2019: BGN 415 thousand) and include attorney fees, state fees and fees for expert opinions. Payables to 
suppliers amounted to BGN 32 thousand (31 December 2019: BGN 29 thousand) and include expenses 
incurred in 2020.

17. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

In the ordinary course of its business activities BDIF is exposed to a variety of financial risks, the most 
important being market risk (including currency risk, risk of a change in the fair value and price risk), 
credit risk, liquidity risk and risk of interest-bearing cash flows. General risk management is focused on 
the difficulty to forecast financial markets and to achieve minimisation of the potential negative effects 
that might affect the financial results and position of BDIF. Financial risks are identified on an ongoing 
basis, measured and monitored through various control mechanisms introduced to assess adequately the 
market circumstances of BDIF investments and to maintain free liquid funds while preventing undue risk 
concentration.

The management strives to improve the methods for assessment and management of risks related to the 
investment portfolio: credit, liquidity, interest and currency risks, while performing its major functions: secure 
investment of funds and payout of covered deposits with banks and participation in funding of resolution 
of banks. 

With the objective of minimising risks BDIF maintains modified average portfolio duration not exceeding 1.5 
and determines limits for deposits and securities dealings with a repurchase clause (repo agreements) with 
banks, as well as a limit for foreign currency exposure.

The management of BDIF reviews the investment strategy on a regular basis and monitors the structure of 
financial assets and liabilities based on information provided regularly by the Risk Assessment and Analysis 
Department, Treasury Department, Finance and Accounting Department and Deposit Guarantee and Bank 
Bankruptcy Department.

The structure of the financial assets and liabilities of BDIF as at 31 December by category is 
presented in the table below:
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 31.12.2020 31.12.2019  

 (BGN’000) (BGN’000)

Financial assets  

‘Financial assets reported at amortised cost’  
category  

Cash and cash equivalents 1,080,784 698,081

‘Financial assets reported at fair value in   
other comprehensive income’ category  

Government securities  85,836 10,406

‘Financial assets reported at fair value   
 in the profit and loss’ category  

Subrogation claims against banks 248,097 375,494

 1,414,717 1,083,981

 31.12.2020 31.12.2019  

 (BGN’000) (BGN’000)

Financial liabilities  

‘Financial liabilities reported at amortised cost’ 
category  

Loan from IBRD 586,946 586,874

Loan from EBRD 585,726 585,268

Liabilities on covered deposits 7,633 17,538

Other liabilities 592 594

 1,180,897 1,190,274

As at 31 December 2020 the contingent financial commitments represent accrued liabilities on guarantees 
and litigation expenses amounting to BGN 768 thousand (2019: BGN 1,959 thousand).

Market risk 

(a) Currency risk

The currency risk is related to the adverse movements of exchange rates of other currencies relative to 
the reporting currency, the Bulgarian lev, in future business transactions on foreign currency assets and 
liabilities recognised in the statement of financial position. BDIF is exposed to currency risk of changes in 
the exchange rate of the US dollar to the Bulgarian lev with a view of its open exposures denominated in 
US dollars. Insofar as BDIF had open exposure in USD as at 31 December 2020, cash available in current 
account – USD 1 thousand, the management was of the opinion that there was no currency risk. BDIF had 
no other outstanding currency risks because the remaining operations were transactions denominated in 
BGN and/or in EUR, while the Bulgarian lev is pegged to the euro by law. 
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The tables below represent a summary of the exposure of BDIF to currency risk:

Currency breakdown analysis

As at 31 December 2020 BGN EUR USD Total 
 (BGN’000) (BGN’000) (BGN’000) (BGN’000)

Financial assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 948,160 132,622 2 1,080,784

Government securities  16,701 69,135 – 85,836

Subrogation claims against banks 248,097 – – 248,097

 1,212,958 201,757 2 1,414,717 
   

Financial liabilities    

Loan from IBRD – 586,946 – 586,946

Loan from EBRD – 585,726 – 585,726

Liabilities on covered deposits 7,633 – – 7,633

Other liabilities 592 – – 592

 8,225 1,172,672 – 1,180,897

As at 31 December 2019 BGN EUR USD Total 
 (BGN’000) (BGN’000) (BGN’000) (BGN’000)

Financial assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 543,143 154,936 2 698,081

Government securities  5,423 4,983 – 10,406

Subrogation claims against banks 375,494 – – 375,494

 924,060 159,919 2 1,083,981 
   

Financial liabilities    

Loan from IBRD – 586,874 – 586,874

Loan from EBRD – 585,268 – 585,268

Liabilities on covered deposits 17,538 – – 17,538

Other liabilities 594 – – 594

 18,132 1,172,142 – 1,190,274
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Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The table below demonstrates the sensitivity to a 10 per cent increase/decrease in the current exchange 
rate of BGN against USD based on the structure of foreign-currency denominated assets and liabilities of 
BDIF as at 31 December with an assumption that the influence of all other variables has been ignored. The 
effect was measured and presented as an impact on the financial result and directly on the net assets with 
all other conditions held constant.

                                                                                                        USD

 2020  2019  

 (BGN’000)   (BGN’000) 

Financial result (profit or loss) – increase 0.2 0.2

Net assets (through the financial result) – increase 0.2 0.2

Financial result (profit or loss) – decrease (0.2) (0.2)

Net assets (through the financial result) – decrease (0.2) (0.2)

On a 10 per cent increase in the rate of USD against BGN, the final effect on the financial result of BDIF 
for a one-year period would be an increase by BGN 0.2 thousand (31 December 2019: BGN 0.2 thousand) 
due to the impact of the USD on the current account. The impact on net assets, respectively, would be the 
same. 

On a 10 per cent decrease in the exchange rate of USD against BGN, the final effect on the result of BDIF 
would be with a value equal to the increase described above but with an opposite sign. 

In the opinion of the management, the above currency sensitivity analysis based on the structure of foreign-
currency denominated assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position is representative of the 
currency sensitivity of BDIF for the reporting year.

(b) Price risk 

BDIF is exposed to a price risk related to the debt securities held by it and classified as ‘reported at fair 
value in other comprehensive income’. As mentioned above, in order to minimise this risk, BDIF invests 
liquid funds in Bulgarian government securities. The management has established procedures for ongoing 
monitoring of price changes, yields and maturity structure of government securities and respectively for 
undertaking timely measures and actions when indicators for lasting adverse trends are in place. 

The analysis of the sensitivity of BDIF to the price of debt securities held by BDIF was based on the state 
and structure of investments as at 31 December. If these prices undergo a 3 per cent increase/decrease, 
the effect as at that date would have been directly on the net assets insofar as debt securities are reported 
at fair value in other comprehensive income and their revaluation is carried directly to a component thereof. 
This effect would be as follows:
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 2020 2019 

 (BGN’000)  (BGN’000) 

Net assets (through another component of other comprehensive 

income – financial assets revaluation reserve) – increase 2,575 312

Net assets (through another component of other comprehensive   

income – financial assets revaluation reserve) – decrease (2,575) (312)

(c) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk arises from the impact that changes in interest rates may have on the future cash flows or 
on the fair values of financial instruments.

BDIF held interest-bearing assets, yet income and operating cash flows were largely independent from 
market interest rate fluctuations because the assets in 2020 were predominantly with fixed interest rate. 
In 2019 up until the revision of the General Conditions of the Bulgarian National Bank for Servicing of 
Accounts of Banks, Budget Organisations and Other Clients and the ex-officio termination of the deposits 
of BDIF with the BNB on 6 December 2019, 99.63 per cent of cash was with fixed interest rate.

The table below presents the breakdown of financial instruments depending on the type of contractual 
interest flows.

31 December 2020 with floating   with fixed  interest-free Total 
 interest rate interest rate   
 (BGN’000) (BGN’000) (BGN’000) (BGN’000)

Financial assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 1,080,782 – 2 1,080,784

Government securities  – 85,836 – 85,836

Subrogation claims against banks – – 248,097 248,097

 1,080,782 85,836 248,099 1,414,717

Financial liabilities    

Loan from IBRD – 586,946 – 586,946

Loan from EBRD – 585,726 – 585,726

Liabilities on covered deposits – – 7,633 7,633

Other liabilities – – 592 592

 – 1,172,672 8,225 1,180,897
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31 December 2019 with floating   with fixed  interest-free Total 
 interest rate interest rate   
 (BGN’000) (BGN’000) (BGN’000) (BGN’000)

Financial assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 698,078 – 3 698,081

Government securities  – 10,406 – 10,406

Subrogation claims against banks – – 375,494 375,494

 698,078 10,406 375,497 1,083,981

Financial liabilities    

Loan from IBRD – 586,874 – 586,874

Loan from EBRD – 585,268 – 585,268

Liabilities on covered deposits – – 17,538 17,538

Other liabilities – – 594 594

 – 1,172,142 18,132 1,190,274
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The table below summarises interest rate risk. It includes the financial instruments of BDIF presented at 
carrying amount, categorised by the earlier of either the date of change of contractual interest rate or the 
maturity date.

31 December 2020 up to 1 1-3 3-6 6-12 over 1 interest- Total
 month months months months year free 
 (BGN’000) (BGN’000) (BGN’000) (BGN’000) (BGN’000) (BGN’000) (BGN’000) 

Financial assets       

Cash and cash 
equivalents     1,080,782 – – – – 2 1,080,784

Government  
securities                          – 10,241 – – 75,595 – 85,836

Subrogation claims  
against banks – – – – – 248,097 248,097

 1,080,782 10,241 – – 75,595 248,099 1,414,717

 
Financial liabilities       

Loan from IBRD – – – – 586,946 – 586,946

Loan from EBRD – – – – 585,726 – 585,726

Liabilities on  
covered deposits  – – – – – 7,633 7,633

Other liabilities – – – – – 592 592

 – – – – 1,172,672 8,225 1,180,897
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31 December 2019 up to 1 1-3 3-6 6-12 over 1 interest- Total
 month months months months year free 
 (BGN’000) (BGN’000) (BGN’000) (BGN’000) (BGN’000) (BGN’000) (BGN’000) 

Financial assets       

Cash and cash 
equivalents     698,078 – – – – 3 698,081

Government  
securities                – – – – 10,406 – 10,406

Subrogation claims  
against banks – – – – – 375,494 375,494

 698,078 – – – 10,406 375,497 1,083,981

 
Financial liabilities       

Loan from IBRD – – – – 586,874 – 586,874

Loan from EBRD – – – – 585,268 – 585,268

Liabilities on   
covered deposits  – – – – – 17,538 17,538

Other liabilities – – – – – 594 594

 – – – – 1,172,142 18,132 1,190,274

Sensitivity to interest rate risk 

The table below demonstrates the sensitivity of BDIF to possible changes in interest rates based on the 
structure of assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period and with the assumption that the 
influence of all other variables has been ignored. 

The change in interest rates would affect mainly the yield of securities classified as reported at fair value 
in other comprehensive income, i.e. the statement of operations and respectively, directly net assets. The 
effect of sensitivity to interest rate risk on net assets was calculated by revaluing fixed-coupon interest rate 
securities as at the end of the reporting period as a result of a possible change in interest rates, with the 
assumption that this change would lead to a change in the yield of these instruments.
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Currency Increase/(decrease)   Sensitivity 
 in percentage points of net assets

 2020 2020 

  (BGN’000)

BGN +1 (464)

EUR +1 (1,326)

BGN -1 464

EUR -1 1,326

Currency Increase/(decrease)   Sensitivity 
 in percentage points of net assets

 2019 2019 

  (BGN’000)

BGN +1 (62)

EUR +1 (55)

BGN -1 62

EUR -1 55

Credit risk

Credit risk is mainly the risk that BDIF might be unable to collect its receivables within the ordinary envisaged 
terms. BDIF management purposefully aims at allocating the credit risk within the frames of existing legal 
opportunities for investment of accumulated funds: part of the investments is in government securities 
and another part – in accounts with the Bulgarian National Bank. In the breakdown of assets, the shares 
of investments in government securities, in accounts with the BNB and subrogation claims against banks, 
recognised in the statement of financial position as at 31 December, were as follows:

 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Cash and cash equivalents 76% 64%

Government securities 6% 1%

Subrogation claims against banks 18% 35%
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The credit risk stemming from concentration in Bulgarian government securities, classified as reported 
at fair value in other comprehensive income, is assessed as minimal and manageable insofar as these 
are government securities issued and guaranteed by the Bulgarian state, which services regularly its 
debt liabilities. The credit rating of an issuer is an assessment of its ability to meet the obligations upon 
maturity and is determined by a specialised rating agency based on profound financial analysis. The table 
below displays the credit rating of the Republic of Bulgaria’s long-term obligations, as defined by three 
internationally recognised rating agencies: 

31.12.2020        Rating     Outlook

 In foreign In local 
  currency currency
 
Standard & Poor’s BBB BBB Stable

Moody’s  Baa1 Baa1 Stable

Fitch BBB BBB Stable

   

31.12.2019        Rating     Outlook

 In foreign In local 
  currency currency
 
Standard & Poor’s BBB BBB Positive

Moody’s  Baa2 Baa2 Positive

Fitch BBB BBB Positive

BDIF management monitors and assesses the exposure to credit risk on a regular basis. 

Sensitivity analysis of the claim of BDIF on KTB (in bankruptcy) vis-І-vis the loan portfolio

The sensitivity analysis of the claim of BDIF on KTB (in bankruptcy) relative to collected proceeds of 
the loan portfolio of KTB (in bankruptcy) has been done on the basis of assessment of the change 
in the gross value of expected cash flows for BDIF (expected flows from the claims of BDIF) upon a 
change of expected cash flows from the loan portfolio of KTB (in bankruptcy). On a change of collected 
proceeds of the loan portfolio of KTB (in bankruptcy) with +/- 20 per cent, the gross value of expected 
cash flows for BDIF (expected flows from the claims of BDIF) will increase/decrease by +/- 2.26 per cent,  
or +/- BGN 7.386 million. 

The table below presents the sensitivity of the claim of BDIF on KTB (in bankruptcy) in case of possible 
changes in proceeds collected from the loan portfolio of KTB (in bankruptcy) with an assumption that the 
influence of the other variables has been ignored.
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  Change in      Change in 
  expected cash  the gross 
  flows from  value of
  the loan  expected cash 
  portfolio flows for BDIF 
  (%) (%) 
 
+20% of the loan portfolio  20% 2.26%

Baseline scenario  0% 0.00%

-20% of the loan portfolio  -20% -2.26%

Liquidity risk  

Liquidity risk is the adverse situation where BDIF encounters difficulties in meeting unconditionally all its 
obligations within their maturity. The liquidity management policy of BDIF is conservative, maintaining a 
constant optimal liquid cash reserve to secure good capability for funding its activities. According to the Law 
on Bank Deposit Guarantee, BDIF has the right to collect extraordinary premium contributions from member 
banks and to use loans under the terms and conditions of and according to a procedure specified by the 
BDIF Management Board (Art. 18 of LBDG).

The table below presents the financial instruments of BDIF classified by their residual term to contractual 
maturity on the basis of undiscounted contractual cash flows.

Maturity analysis

31 December 2020 1-3 3-12 1-2 2-5  over 5 Total
 months months years years years 
 (BGN’000) (BGN’000) (BGN’000) (BGN’000) (BGN’000) (BGN’000)

Financial assets      

Cash and cash   
equivalents 1,080,784 – – – – 1,080,784

Government  
securities 11,409 85 16,713 57,283 – 85,490

Subrogation claims   
against banks – 248,097 – – – 248,097

 1,092,193 248,182 16,713 57,283 – 1,414,371

Financial liabilities      

Loan from IBRD – 9,200 38,308 334,170 246,474 628,152

Loan from EBRD – 8,948  154,550 450,107 – 613,605 

Other liabilities 32 484 – – 76 592

 32 18,632 192,858 784,277 246,550 1,242,349
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31 December 2019 1-3 3-12 1-2 2-5  over 5 Total
 months months years years years 
 (BGN’000) (BGN’000) (BGN’000) (BGN’000) (BGN’000) (BGN’000)

Financial assets      

Cash and cash   
equivalents 698,081 – – – – 698,081

Government  
securities 80 79 10,233 – – 10,392

Subrogation claims   
against banks – 356,127 69,209 – – 425,336

 698,161 356,206 79,442 – – 1,133,809

Financial liabilities      

Loan from IBRD – 9,200 9,200 181,422 437,530 637,352

Loan from EBRD – 8,972  8,948 456,854 147,803 622,577 

Other liabilities 35 499 – – 60 594

 35 18,671 18,148 638,276 585,393 1,260,523

Fair values

Fair value is generally the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled in an arm’s 
length transaction between independent, willing and knowledgeable parties. 

The BDIF policy is to disclose in its financial statements the fair value of the financial assets and liabilities, 
mostly those for which market quotations are available. The fair value of financial instruments traded in 
active markets is based on the prices quoted at the end of the reporting period. The quoted market prices 
are the current bid prices. The fair value of government securities was set on the basis of market value 
of securities traded in active markets as at the end of the reporting period, Level 1 in the hierarchy of fair 
values. 

The fair value of financial instruments which are not traded in active markets has been determined 
through valuation methods based on various valuation techniques and management assumptions made 
in accordance with the market circumstances as at the end of the reporting period. The fair value of the 
claims on KTB (in bankruptcy) in the hierarchy of fair values is of Level 3. 

BDIF management believes that the estimates of financial assets and liabilities presented in the statement 
of financial position are as reliable, adequate and trustworthy as possible for financial reporting purposes 
under the existing circumstances.
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18. RELATIONS AND TRANSACTIONS WITH GOVERNMENT INSTITUTIONS, AUTHORITIES AND   

 ENTERPRISES

Further to its special status and functions, as well as in line with the legal requirements, BDIF has regular 
relations with the following institutions: the Ministry of Finance, the Bulgarian National Bank and the 
Association of Banks in Bulgaria. 

BDIF is governed by a Management Board designated in accordance with the LBDG (Note 1.). 

The funds accumulated by BDIF from banks’ contributions in accordance with the legal requirements 
are invested in securities issued or guaranteed by the Bulgarian state and in current accounts with the 
Bulgarian National Bank (Notes 8. and 9.). Securities in which BDIF invests are acquired in both the primary 
market by participating in auctions organised and carried out by the Bulgarian National Bank and in the 
secondary market. 

On 9 June 2016 the National Assembly adopted laws on ratification of the Guarantee Agreements between 
the Republic of Bulgaria, on the one hand, and the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development 
and the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development, on the other hand, in connection with the 
government guaranteed loans from both institutions for BDIF.

19. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Council of Ministers of the Republic of Bulgaria, with a decision at the end of January 2021 extended 
until the end of April 2021 the epidemic emergency situation declared back on 14 May 2020 in connection 
with the COVID-19 pandemic.

Rigorous protective measures and restrictions were imposed leading to disruption of regular business 
operations of some sectors in the country.

This is expected to have no significant adverse impact on the activity of the Fund.

As at the date of approval of the present financial statements, no other events requiring adjustments or 
disclosure therein are reported.



BULGARIAN DEPOSIT 
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